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Market and Industry 
In 2024, China's property services industry demonstrated resilience and growth, driven by policy support and 
market stabilization efforts. The real estate market, which directly impacts property services, showed signs of 
recovery after a prolonged downturn. Key policy measures, such as reduced down payment ratios and lower 
mortgage rates, helped stabilize the market and boost demand for property services.  
 
However, the pace of recovery remains uneven. While policy easing has provided some relief, weak consumer 
sentiment and cautious buyer behavior continue to weigh on the market. The property service industry, closely 
linked to the performance of the real estate sector, is adapting to these conditions by focusing on innovation, 
efficiency, and enhanced service delivery. Property service providers are playing a critical role in managing 
this transition, leveraging technology and strategic partnerships to meet the evolving needs of homeowners 
and developers in a changing market landscape. 
 
The China’s real estate industry experienced severe downward pressure in 2024. Real estate investment 
declined to approximately RMB10.0 trillion, a year-on-year decrease by 10.6%. The sales area of commercial 
housing reached approximately 975.85 million sq. m., representing a year-on-year decrease of 12.9%, with the 
sales area of residential buildings decreasing by 14.1%. The sales volume of commercial housing was 
approximately RMB9.7 trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.1%, with residential sales volume 
decreasing by 17.6%.  
 
Annual Results 
In 2024, the Group’s total revenue was approximately RMB369.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
representing a decrease of approximately 13.5%, from RMB426.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
This was mainly due to the decline in revenue generated from real estate agency services and property 
management services. 
 
Faced with complex market environment and intense industry competition, the Group prioritized strict 
payment collection to ensure stable operations by strengthening contract management, standardizing 
payment processes, and establishing a payment collection responsibility system with performance incentives. 
The Group promoted online payment platforms for greater convenience and efficiency, while implementing 
flexible strategies for single-owner projects, including withdrawal in cases of long overdue payments.  
 
The Group made significant strides in optimizing talent management, enhancing service quality, and 
improving operational efficiency. A key focus was on streamlining workforce productivity through strategic 
talent assessments, recruiting industry professionals, and investing in employee upskilling initiatives. These 
efforts were supported by strengthened performance management systems, which aligned employee goals 
with organizational objectives.  
 
The Group was dedicated to delivering exceptional service quality and enhancing customer satisfaction. 
Throughout the year, a variety of community engagement activities and promotional campaigns were 
organized, fostering stronger connections with residents and showcasing the company’s commitment to 
quality improvements. Regular employee training programs were conducted to enhance skills and service 
awareness, ensuring our team is well-equipped to meet and exceed customer expectations. Service standards 
and processes were refined to ensure consistency, while communication channels were optimized to facilitate 
prompt responses, enabling us to deliver high-quality services. 
 
The Group leveraged centralized procurement to optimize supplier management and streamline procurement 
processes. By continuously refining procurement workflows, the Group effectively reduced purchasing costs 
and improved operational efficiency.  
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The Group conducted comprehensive review of its management structure and implemented strategic 
adjustments to optimize its operational model. These changes were designed to enhance management 
efficiency, improve responsiveness to market dynamics, and drive overall organizational agility. Additionally, 
the Group revised and standardized procedures for handling specific tasks, ensuring greater consistency and 
effectiveness in operations.  
 
Future Outlook 
As we look ahead into 2025, the Group remains committed to transforming its business strategies with a focus 
on long-term value creation and sustainable growth. Building on the strategic shifts initiated in 2024, we will 
continue to prioritize ethical practices, quality service, and operational efficiency to strengthen our market 
position and deliver value to stakeholders. Our tiered project management system will remain a cornerstone 
of our strategy, with flagship projects enhancing brand recognition, secondary projects maintaining scale, and 
tertiary projects serving as platforms for talent development. Underperforming projects will be addressed with 
targeted solutions to optimize resource allocation and improve overall efficiency. 
 
In line with our commitment to organic growth, we will focus on leveraging existing resources from property 
owners, government entities, and real estate developers to identify new opportunities, rather than pursuing 
acquisitions. This approach aligns with our philosophy of building sustainable, long-term partnerships and 
creating value through innovation and collaboration. 
 
At the heart of our operations, we will continue to return to the essence of service excellence. By responding 
promptly to customer needs and proactively addressing their concerns, we aim to further enhance customer 
satisfaction and solidify our reputation. Our customer-centric approach, combined with a focus on quality and 
integrity, will drive our efforts to capture market share and deliver consistent value. 
 
Looking forward, the Group is poised to embrace the challenges and opportunities of 2025 with confidence. 
By staying true to our core values of long-termism, ethical practices, and service excellence, we will continue 
to build a resilient and innovative organization, well-positioned to thrive in an evolving market landscape. 
 
Acknowledgement 
On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our heartfelt gratitude to my fellow Board members, the 
management and all the staff members for everyone’s dedication over the past year. I also would like to 
express my sincere thanks to our shareholders, customers, and business partners for your trust and support. 
We will spare no effort in striving for the Group’s long-term development and create greater value for 
shareholders. 
 
Fong Ming 
Chairman  
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025 
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BUSINESS REVIEW 
Over the past years, the Company has continued to optimize its business structure, further focusing on the 
development of property management services and complementary value-added services. In response to 
evolving market conditions and strategic adjustments, we have gradually reallocated resources to strengthen 
our presence in the property management sector, which has become the core stream of the Group’s revenue. 
 
Moving forward, the Group remains committed to a strategy of steady growth, actively addressing market 
challenges while seizing opportunities in the property management industry. We will continue to deliver high-
quality services to our customers and create greater value for shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”). 
 
The Group’s total revenue amounted to approximately RMB369.1 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024, representing a decrease of approximately 13.5%, from RMB426.8 million in the corresponding period of 
2023, which was mainly due to the decline in revenue generated from real estate agency services and property 
management services. 
 
Comprehensive Real Estate Agency Services Segment 
Revenue recorded from real estate agency services was approximately RMB6.8 million for the year ended 31 
December 2024, representing a decrease of 76.9% from RMB29.4 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023. 
 
Property developers in China, including Fineland Group, our largest revenue source in the real estate agency 
services segment, continue to face financial difficulties. This has significantly constrained supply, compounded 
by sluggish demand. In response, we have taken proactive measures to adapt to the changing market 
environment. Specifically, we have largely tightened related investments, adopted a more cautious approach 
to project development, and actively addressed underperforming projects. These actions are aimed at 
enhancing operational efficiency and mitigating risks in the current market climate. Moving forward, we will 
continue to closely monitor industry trends and policy developments, adjusting our strategies as needed to 
navigate the evolving landscape. 
 
Professional Property Management Services Segment 
Property management services segment consists of (i) property management services, (ii) value-added 
services to non-property owners, and (iii) community value-added services. Revenue recorded from 
professional property management services segment was approximately RMB362.3 million for the year ended 
31 December 2024, representing a decrease of 8.8%, from approximately RMB397.4 million for the year ended 
31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease of approximately RMB20.4 million from property 
management services and the decrease of approximately RMB9.7 million community value-added services. 
 
Property Management Services 
Property management services are mainly for real estate developers and property owners. Services provided 
include standard property management services and ancillary services such as cleaning, gardening, security, 
repair and maintenance and butler services. The Group provides services for residential and non-residential 
properties, including public facilities, office buildings, industry parks, schools, etc. Revenue recorded for 
property management services was approximately RMB303.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
representing a decrease of 6.3% from approximately RMB324.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
 
Contracted gross floor areas (“GFA”) as at 31 December 2024 is approximately 18.7 million square meters, 
representing a decrease of 2.9% compared with approximately 19.3 million square meters as at 31 December 
2023, and GFA under management was approximately 15.1 million square meters, representing an increase 
of 6.0% compared with approximately 14.2 million square meters as at 31 December 2023. 
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Value-added Services to non-property Owners 
Value-added services to non-property owners are mainly for real estate developers. Services include cleaning, 
security and maintenance services for pre-sale display units and sales offices, etc. Revenue recorded for value-
added services to non-property owners was approximately RMB13.1 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024, representing a decrease of 27.2% from RMB18.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This was 
mainly due to the continuing financing difficulties the real estate developers faced and their capability to 
develop and launch new projects. 
 
Community Value-added Services 
Community value-added services include common area value-added services, community retail, community 
media, furnishing services, and other community convenience services to property owners. Revenue recorded 
for community value-added services was approximately RMB45.5 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024, representing a decrease of 17.7% from approximately RMB55.3 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023. This was mainly due to the decrease in demand for such services from the property owners.  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW 
Revenue 
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB369.1 million, representing a decrease 
of approximately RMB57.7 million as compared to RMB426.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
Such decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in revenue generated from comprehensive real estate 
agency services of approximately RMB22.6 million and professional property management services of 
approximately RMB35.1 million. 
 
Cost of Services 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of services of the Group amounted to approximately 
RMB309.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 8.8% as compared to RMB339.8 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in numbers of frontline 
employees in both real estate agency segment and property management segment. 
 
Selling and Marketing Expenses 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the selling and marketing expenses of the Group were approximately 
RMB0.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately 77.8% as compared to approximately RMB0.9 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the effective cost control measures by cutting 
back major promotion events. 
 
Administrative Expenses 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the administrative expenses of the Group were approximately RMB47.5 
million, representing a decrease of approximately 18.8% as compared to approximately RMB58.5 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was primarily due to the Company’s enduring cost control 
measures. 
 
Other Income, Losses and Gains 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded other losses, net of approximately RMB1.8 million 
as compared to other gains, net of approximately RMB7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This 
was mainly due to (i) the loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable in relation to the Yikang 
Acquisition of approximately RMB3.9 million, compared with fair value gain on contingent consideration of 
approximately RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. For further information, please refer to 
the announcement of the Company in relation to the profit guarantee arrangement for Yikang Acquisition 
dated 26 March 2025; and (ii) the fair value loss on investment properties of approximately RMB0.9 million. 
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Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets 
Reasons for the Recognition of the Impairment 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net impairment losses on financial assets of the Group were 
approximately RMB90.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 10.9% as compared to 
approximately RMB101.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The net impairment losses on financial 
assets were primarily attributable to the provision for impairment losses on trade receivables, amounts due 
from fellow subsidiaries/related companies and amounts due from related companies of approximately 
RMB43.6 million, RMB22.6 million and RMB21.9 million, respectively, which were mainly due to (i) the 
downturn in the real estate industry, challenging economic conditions, and lower occupancy rates of newly 
delivered projects; and (ii) the fact that collections of trade receivables and amounts due from related parties 
have fallen short of expectations. Specifically, (i) there was a significant increase in trade receivables related to 
our agency services that were overdue for two or more years as at 31 December 2024, primarily due to the 
limited financing resources available to our property developer customers; (ii) our fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies have recorded a relatively low debt service coverage ratio, as reflected in their consolidated 
financial statement for the six months ended 30 June 2024; and (iii) we recorded a relatively low repayment 
rate from our related companies. In light of these factors and out of prudent financial management, the Group 
has made corresponding impairment provisions. 
 
Assessment of the ECL Allowance 
The Company has engaged an independent professional valuer, Cushman & Wakefield Limited1, to assist with 
the assessment of the expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance for trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies and related companies. The independent valuer adopted the expected credit 
loss model to estimate the lifetime expected credit loss of the financial instruments (i.e., the Group’s trade 
receivables and related party receivables) in accordance with HKFRS 9. For the Group’s trade receivables and 
related party receivables without expected repayment schedule, the expected credit loss rate is estimated 
based on the corporate default rate, loss given default and forward-looking adjustments. For the Group’s 
trade receivables and related party receivables with expected repayment schedule, the expected credit loss is 
estimated based on the discounted repayment cash flow. The same valuation method had been consistently 
applied on the assessment of ECL allowance for the impairment losses on financial assets as at 31 December 
2023. As at the date of this annual report, there have been no subsequent changes to the valuation method 
used. 
 
As at 31 December 2024, there was a significant change in the default rate inputs and the expected loss rate 
of the Group’s amounts due from related parties that are in real estate sector compared to those as at 31 
December 2023. 
 
Set out below are the default rate inputs and expected loss rate of the Group’s amounts due from related 
parties as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 based on the valuation report issued by the 
independent professional valuer: 
 

 As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 

 
Loss given 

default 
Expected 
loss rate 

Loss given 
default 

Expected 
loss rate 

Expected Loss Rate of Related Party Receivables  
Fellow subsidiaries 

  
 

 

Non-pledged 80%-81% 81%-94% 10%-53% 21%-56% 
     

Related companies     
Non-pledged 64%-80% 25%-94% 10%-64% 25%-45% 

1 Cushman & Wakefield Limited is an international valuation advisory firm that has provided valuation services to many listed 
companies for their financial reporting purposes.
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This change was primarily driven by the factors including (i) the relatively low debt service coverage ratio of 
our fellow subsidiaries/related companies, as reflected in their consolidated financial statement for the six 
months ended 30 June 2024; (ii) the historical repayment rate of receivables from our related companies, for 
which we do not have access to financial statements or management accounts; and (iii) the persistent 
weakness and uncertainty in the PRC property market and the shortage of financing resources to PRC property 
developers. 
 
The assumptions made in such valuation included the following: (i) according to the Company’s policy, trade 
receivables for real estate agency services overdue for two or more years and for property management 
services over three years are assumed to be treated as 100% provisions; (ii) due to a significant increase in the 
credit risk of the related parties since 2023, certain related party receivables except non-controlling 
shareholders interest receivables, have been classified as credit-impaired; (iii) there will be no material change 
in the political, legal, fiscal, technological, market and economic conditions that will materially affect the 
operation of the Company; and (iv) the information provided by the management of the Company is true and 
accurate.  
 
For details of the assessment and valuation of the ECL allowance, please refer to Notes 4(g)(ii) and 33(a) of 
the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Measures taken by the Group to Recover the Outstanding Receivables 
In efforts to recover the Company’s trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies and related companies (including the Outstanding Earnest Money Balance), the Group has 
regularly and consistently requested payments through oral communications and electronic means, organized 
physical meetings with debtors to address and resolve outstanding receivables, and issued formal letters and 
legal demand letters to debtors.  
 
Additionally, during 2023, the Group entered into settlement transactions to offset certain amounts of 
receivables with properties to immediately reduce exposure to credit risks. For details, please refer to the 
paragraphs headed “Continuing Connected transactions” on pages 40 and 42 of the 2023 Annual Report and 
the paragraphs headed “Developments of the previous connected transactions” on page 39 of the this annual 
report. 
 
Furthermore, the Group initiated a civil legal proceeding against Guangzhou Fangyuan Huijin Real Estate 
Development Limited* (廣州方圓匯金房地產發展有限公司) (“Fangyuan Huijin”), a company ultimately non-
wholly owned by Mr. Fong, regarding the Outstanding Earnest Money Balance of approximately RMB14.2 
million in March 2024. On 23 October 2024 and 20 March 2025, the Company has secured a favorable 
judgment and an enforcement order, respectively. The court will proceed with compulsory enforcement 
actions against Fangyuan Huijin to fulfill its obligations under the judgement. For detailed information, please 
refer to the paragraph headed “Outstanding Earnest Money Balance” on page 42 of the this annual report. 
 
As at the date of this annual report, the Company is still communicating and negotiating with the relevant 
debtors to recover the remaining balance of the outstanding receivables. The Company has taken, and will 
continue to take, legal actions to recover its outstanding receivables where necessary.  
 
Assessment on the Credit Risks of the Counterparties involved 
Before conducting business with a new client, the Company would consider the nature of the entity involved 
(private or state-owned), the size and scope of its operations, its historical financial stability and credit track 
record. Furthermore, the Company would also take into account the broader economic landscape and industry 
trends to gauge the overall credit risk associated with conducting business with such client. The Company will 
then conduct periodical review of the overall credit risk of such client based on the aforementioned criteria.  
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The Company has disclosed in Note 33(a) of the notes to the financial statements, the details of the Group's 
policies for assessing the credit risk during the monitoring of the receivables collection. Specifically, the Group 
had performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECLs, 
taking into account reasonable and supporting information that is relevant and available without undue cost 
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, such as (i) internal 
credit rating; (ii) external credit rating; (iii) actual expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor's ability to meet its 
obligations; (iv) actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of individual property owner 
or the debtor; (v) significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the individual property 
owner or the debtor; and (vi) significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the debtor, 
including changes in the payment status of debtors and changes in the operating results of the debtor.  
 
Net Impairment Losses on Goodwill 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded an impairment of goodwill of approximately 
RMB7.8 million, which was primarily due to the fact that the business of some of the subsidiaries acquired in 
previous years did not have an anticipated growth, resulting in a decrease in its revenue and profit and a lower 
expectation of future growth. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s goodwill was RMB39.8 million after the 
aforesaid impairment, representing a decrease of 16.4% as compared with RMB47.6 million as at 31 December 
2023. A valuation has been conducted by an independent professional valuer, Cushman & Wakefield Limited, 
in relation to the impairment assessment. For details, please refer to Note 27 of the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Net Profit Margin 
The net profit margin decreased to -21.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to -13.4% for 
the year ended 31 December 2023. This decrease was mainly because (i) the decrease in cost of services did 
not commensurate with the decline in revenue generated, as there is a time lag between the decrease in 
contracted GFA in the intensified market competition during the industry downturn and implementation of 
cost adjustments, and (ii) the further impairment losses were recognized on financial assets and non-financial 
assets.  
 
Loss for the Year 
As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group made a net loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 
of approximately RMB79.3 million, representing an increase of 38.9% compared to a net loss of approximately 
RMB57.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.  
 
Investment Properties 
The investment properties consist of car parking spaces and commercial properties. As at 31 December 2024, 
the Group’s investment properties amounted to approximately RMB14.2 million, which was mainly due to the 
settlement transactions entered into by the Company on 6 December 2023 to set-off outstanding receivables 
owed to the Group by Guangzhou Fineland Real Estate Development Limited* (廣州市方圓房地產發展有限
公司)’s subsidiaries and Guangzhou Zengcheng Fangyuan Mingsheng Real Estate Limited* (廣州市增城區方
圓明盛房地產有限公司). For details of the settlement transactions, please refer to the announcement of the 
Company dated 6 December 2023, the circular of the Company dated 22 December 2023, and the paragraphs 
headed “Developments of the previous connected transactions” on page 39 of this annual report. 
 
Liquidity and Financial Resources 
In 2024 and 2023, the Group’s main source of funds was cash generated from operating activities. 
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB28.0 million (as at 31 
December 2023: net current assets of approximately RMB71.3 million), total assets of approximately RMB366.7 
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB478.3 million) and equity attributable to owners of the 
Company of approximately RMB34.1 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB112.8 million). 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the total bank balances and cash (restricted bank balances: approximately RMB1.8 
million) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB66.6 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately 
RMB90.8 million, restricted bank balance: approximately RMB2.6 million). 
 
Trade Receivables, Amounts Due from Fellow Subsidiaries/Related Companies and Related 
Companies 
Trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies and related companies are mainly 
receivables attributable to the provision of the Group’s property management services, real estate agency 
services and earnest money paid to the property developers to entitle to an exclusive agency right to sell 
properties in the primary market projects during an agreed period. Trade receivables, amounts due from 
fellow subsidiaries/related companies and amounts due from related companies decreased, from 
approximately RMB103.9 million, RMB62.5 million and RMB40.7 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2023 
to approximately RMB84.0 million, RMB16.9 million and RMB21.4 million, respectively, as at 31 December 
2024, which are primarily due to the increase in the provision of impairment losses based on the principle of 
prudence, as a result of continued weakness and uncertainty in the real estate industry in the PRC. 
 
Indebtedness 
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any short-term borrowings (as at 31 December 2023: 
RMB19.4 million), nor long term borrowings (as at 31 December 2023: Nil). Please refer to note 30 to the 
financial statements for details. 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
As the Group’s sales are denominated in Renminbi, the Group’s purchases and expenses are either 
denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, and there are no significant foreign currency borrowings, 
the Group’s currency fluctuation risk is considered insignificant. The Group currently does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy. The management continuously monitors the foreign exchange risk exposure and will 
consider hedging significant currency risk exposure should the need arise. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s considers that its exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant in the absence of interest-bearing 
financial liabilities with contractual period exceeding one year. 
 
Gearing Ratio 
The gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets) was 77% as at 31 December 2024, as 
compared to 64% as at 31 December 2023. 
 
Employees and the Group’s Remuneration Policy 
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,632 staff (2023: 1,736 staff). 
 
For details of total employee benefits and directors’ emoluments of the Group, please refer to notes 10 and 
11 to the financial statements. 
 
For the details of share option scheme, please refer to “Share Option Scheme” of the Directors’ Report of this 
Annual Report. 
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The remuneration policies of the Group are formulated based on the Group’s operating results, employees’ 
individual performance, working experience, respective responsibility, merit, qualifications and competence, 
as well as comparable market statistics and state policies. The emolument policies of the Group are reviewed 
by the management of the Group regularly. 
 
The Company’s policies concerning emoluments of Directors are generally that (i) the amount of emoluments 
is determined on the basis of the relevant Director’s experience, responsibility, workload and the time devoted 
to the Company; and (ii) non-cash benefits may be provided to the Directors under their remuneration 
package. 
 
Significant Investments 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, no significant investment was held by the Group. As at the date of this 
annual report, the Group had no future plans for material investments or capital assets . 
 
Material Acquisition and Disposals 
The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities for 
the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMBNil). 
 
Capital Commitments 
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMBNil). 
 
Other than as set out in this Annual Report, the Group did not acquire or dispose of any major subsidiaries or 
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). 
 
Pledged Assets of the Group 
The subsidiary of the Company and Agricultural Bank of China Limited Guangzhou Beixiu branch mutually 
agreed to extend the bank loan of approximately RMB19,930,000 on 14 November 2023, with a term of one 
year, carrying a fixed rate of 4% per annum, which is secured, among others, by certain trade receivables of 
Fineland E-Life Service Co., Ltd.* (廣州方圓現代生活服務股份有限公司 (“Fineland E-life”) of a maximum 
amount of approximately RMB28,152,000. The subsidiary of the Company pledged approximately 68.9% equity 
interests in Fineland E-life to Agricultural Bank of China Limited Guangzhou Beixiu branch.  
 
As at 31 December 2024, the bank loan has been fully repaid by end of the term, but the procedures for the 
release of the equity pledge have not yet been completed. 
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
Below is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties, which may materially and adversely affect the 
achievement of the Group’s business progress: 
 
The Group’s business is subject to various regulations imposed by the PRC government as the real 
estate industry as a whole is highly regulated. 
The Group’s business is subject to extensive laws, governmental regulations and policies, and the Group is  
susceptible to policy changes in the PRC, especially in Guangdong province, where our business is highly 
concentrated. In addition, the Group is impacted indirectly by laws and regulations designed to influence the 
wider PRC property sector. The government exerts considerable influence over the sustainable development 
of the real estate market through policies and other economic measures, for example, by setting interest rates, 
changing the reserve ratios for bank deposits to control credit supply, and implementing loan restrictions. 
Such policies may reduce the overall market demand for properties, and decelerate the overall growth of 
property development, potentially leading to a slowdown in the market, and material adverse effects on the 
Group’s business, operating performance, and financial position. 
 
Competition in the real estate agency business and property management business are intense. 
The real estate agency and property management businesses are intensely competitive and highly fragmented 
in China. Some of the Group’s competitors may be better positioned, with greater resources and longer-
standing relationships. These service providers may be in a more favorable position than we are when it comes 
to attracting customers, financing, professional management personnel and labor resources. The Group 
competes with other companies that also provide real estate agency services and property management 
services and is subject to the local market competition dynamics. The intensity of the competition may result 
in a shortage of talented employees, increased compensation costs in order to retain them, if the Group is 
unable to respond to changes in market conditions faster or more effectively than its competitors or otherwise 
maintain or enhance its competitiveness, the Group’s business, operating performance and financial position 
could also be adversely affected. 
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DIRECTORS 
Our Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising four executive Directors and three independent 
non-executive Directors: 
 

Name Age 

Date of 
Appointment  
as Director 

Date of joining 
our Group Roles and responsibilities 

Relationship 
with other 
Directors and 
Senior 
management 

      
Executive Directors 

FONG Ming (方明) 59 16 February 2017 March 1997 Providing strategic plans and general 
management of our Group 

 

None 

SUN Ligong (孙立功) 50 17 March 2025 February 2022 Providing strategic plans and general 

management of our Group 
 

None 

HAN Shuguang (韩曙光) 51 15 June 2021 June 2021 Providing strategic plans and general 
management of our Group 

 

None 

TSE Lai Wa (謝麗華) 69 16 February 2017 April 1997 Providing advice on overall business 
plans and overseeing strategic 
matters 

None 

      
Independent non-executive Directors 

LEUNG Wai Hung (梁偉雄) 57 23 October 2017 23 October 2017 Supervising and providing independent 
judgement to our Board 

 

None 

TIAN Qiusheng (田秋生) 69 23 October 2017 23 October 2017 Supervising and providing independent 
judgement to our Board 

 

None 

DU Chenhua (杜稱華) 55 23 October 2017 23 October 2017 Supervising and providing independent 
judgement to our Board 

None 

 
Executive Directors 
Mr. FONG Ming (方明) (“Mr. Fong”), aged 59, was re-designated as the chairman of the Company on 30 
April 2024 and from a non-executive Director to an executive Director on 17 March 2025. He is one of the 
founders of the Group and one of the controlling shareholders as well as a director of Guangzhou Fineland 
Living Service Limited* (廣州方圓生活服務有限公司) (“Guangzhou Fineland Living”), and Guangzhou 
Fineland E-Life Service Co., Ltd.* (廣州方圓現代生活服務股份有限公司 ) (“Fineland E-life” ), both are 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Fong is primarily responsible for overall business plans and general 
management of our Group. 
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Mr. Fong has over 25 years of experience in property development, property consultancy and business 
management. He was the chairman and general manager of Guangzhou Fineland Enterprises Company 
Limited*(廣州方圓企業有限公司) and Guangzhou Fineland Real Estate Development Company Limited* (廣
州市方圓房地產發展有限公司) from 1994 to 1997, in which he was primarily responsible for overseeing the 
management of the companies. He was also the chairman and president of Guangdong Fineland Group Co., 
Ltd* (廣東方圓集團有限公司) from 1997 to 2006 in which he was primarily responsible for overseeing the 
operations of the company. From 2006 to end of 2024, he has been the chairman and the president of the 
Fineland Group and has been primarily responsible for making investment decisions, providing overall 
strategic planning and supervising property development projects of the Fineland Group. As at 17 March 2025, 
Mr. Fong has ceased all executive roles within the Fineland Group. 
 
Mr. Fong obtained his bachelor’s degree in law from the Sun Yat-Sen University in the PRC in July 1987 and 
was qualified as a lawyer by Department of Justice in Guangdong Province in April 2007. 
 
Mr. SUN Ligong (孙立功) (“Mr. Sun”), aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive 
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) on 17 March 2025. He joined the Group in February 
2022 and is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company including Fineland E-Life since November 2023. 
He was promoted to be chairman of Fineland E-Life in Feburary 2024. He is currently primarily responsible for 
general management of the Company.  
 
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Sun worked as a cadre successively in the Lhase Ordance De-pot and 
Guangzhou Military Region from December 1992 to June 2013. In July 2013, Mr. Sun joined Fineland Group 
as assistant to chairman. From September 2017 to February 2022, Mr. Sun worked as deputy director and 
director of the chairman’s office, general manager of the HR and administration department, vice president 
of Fineland Group and president of construction group successively.  
 
He obtained his bachelor’s degree in Financial Management from PLA Naval University of Engineering*（中
國人民解放軍海軍工程大學）in the PRC in June 2003. 
 
Mr. HAN Shuguang (韓曙光) (“Mr. Han”), aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director on 15 June 2021 
and ceased to act as the Chief Executive Officer on 17 March 2025. He is primarily responsible for strategic 
planning and general management of the Group. 
  
Mr. Han has served as a director of a number of the operating subsidiaries within the Group since 1998. Mr. 
Han has over 20 years of experience in property development with Fineland Group Holdings Company Limited 
and its subsidiaries (other than the Group) (“Fineland Group”), where he is primarily responsible for land 
acquisition, investments and financing matters, cost control and legal affairs. He joined Guangzhou Zhanyi 
Trading Co., Ltd.* (廣州市展逸貿易有限公司) (then known as Guangzhou Fineland Enterprises Company 
Limited* (廣州市方圓企業有限公司)) in 1994 and was appointed as the executive director of Guangzhou 
Fineland Real Estate Development Company Limited* ( 廣州市方圓房地產發展有限公司) (“Guangzhou 
Fineland”) (then known as Guangzhou Rongxing Development Company Limited* (廣州榮星房地產發展有限
公司)) in October 1995. Mr. Han was appointed as the vice general manager and the authorized representative 
of Guangzhou Fineland in 2000. 
 
He obtained his bachelor’s degree in history from Sun Yat-sen University in the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”) in June 1994. 
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Ms. TSE Lai Wa (谢丽华) (“Ms. Tse”), aged 69, was appointed as an executive Director on 16 February 2017 
and is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. She joined the Group in April 1997 as a director 
of Guangzhou Fineland Living, a position which she has been holding since then and has been responsible 
for providing advice on overall business plans and overseeing strategic matters.  
 
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Tse worked as an administrative manager in Nanfang Hospital* (南方醫科大
學南方醫院) from October 1976 to October 1992, primarily responsible for daily administrative and logistics 
management. From March 1996 to March 1997, Ms. Tse worked as a manager of the Fineland Group, and 
was mainly responsible for administrative work. 
 
Ms. Tse completed an intensive course on executive masters in business administration from the Hong Kong 
SinoAustralia Management College in June 2001. 
 
Independent Non-executive Directors 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung (梁伟雄) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director on 23 October 2017 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment 
to the board of directors. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of the audit committee, a member of the 
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination committee of the Company. 
 
Mr. Leung has more than 20 years working experience in various listed companies in Hong Kong mainly 
engaged in property development including Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (now known as CK Hutchison 
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 001). Mr. Leung also has extensive experience in real estate investment trust 
(“REIT”). He participated in the IPO setup of the first private sector REIT, Prosperity REIT (stock code: 808) in 
Hong Kong in 2005 and worked for the manager of Fortune REIT (stock code: 778) as a Finance Director from 
2011 to 2012. Fortune REIT was dually listed in both Hong Kong and Singapore at that time. Other than 
property development, he has also worked as the financial controller of Shougang Concord International 
Enterprises Company Limited (now known as Shoucheng Holdings Limited) (stock code: 697) (“SCIECL”) from 
2013 to 2018. SCIECL is a state-owned enterprise and a member of Shougang Group Co., Ltd, one of the top 
10 steel producers in the world.  
 
Mr. Leung was an independent non-executive director and company secretary of BeijingWest Industries 
International Limited (stock code: 2339), a Main Board listed company in Hong Kong, from April 2022 to 
December 2024. Mr. Leung was appointed as an independent non-executive director of China Fortune 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 110), a Main Board listed company, from 9 July 2021. Since 4 August 2022, Mr. 
Leung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of Sino-Ocean Service Holding Limited (stock 
code: 6677), a Main Board listed company. Since 20 April 2024, Mr. Leung was appointed as an independent 
non-executive director of Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 174), a Main Board listed 
company. Since 20 September 2024, Mr. Leung was appointed as an independent non-executive director of 
Wing Lee Development Construction Holdings Limited (stock code: 9639), a Main Board listed company. 
 
Mr. Leung also has extensive financial knowledge in initial public offering, merger and acquisition as well as 
fund raising and is familiar with the business environment of both Hong Kong and the Mainland China. 
 
Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He 
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
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Mr. TIAN Qiusheng (田秋生) (“Mr. Tian”), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 23 October 2017 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the 
board of directors. Mr. Tian is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit 
committee and nomination committee of the Company. 
 
Mr. Tian has more than 30 years of experiences in providing business and finance related tertiary education. 
From July 1982 to July 2005, Mr. Tian held different positions in the School of Economics of Lanzhou University, 
including being the deputy head of the department. Since July 2005, Mr. Tian has held various positions in 
South China University of Technology, including being the deputy head of the economics and trade 
department, the general manager of the finance department, and the director of the regional business 
research center of the university from July 2015 to June 2017. 
 
Mr. Tian is a guest economist of the National Bureau of Statistics for China’s economic climate survey, a 
member of the Academic Committee under the Guangdong Finance Institute, a member of the Academic 
Committee under the Guangdong Regional Financial Policy Research Center, the director of the Academic 
Committee under the Guangdong Industry Research Institute, a vice president of the Guangdong Financial 
Think-tank Federation and a special researcher of the Guangdong People’s Government Counsellors' Office. 
 
Mr. Tian is currently an independent non-executive Director of Livzon Pharmaceutical Group Inc.* (麗珠醫藥
集團股份有限公司), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 
(stock code: 1513), and Zhuhai Rural Commercial Bank Company Limited* (珠海農村商業銀行股份有限公司). 
 
Mr. Tian obtained his bachelor’s degree in Economics from the Lanzhou University in June 1982 and his 
doctorate degree in Economics from the Northwest University in the PRC* (西北大學) in June 2001. 
 
Mr. DU Chenhua (杜称华) (“Mr. Du”), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 
23 October 2017 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the 
board of directors. Mr. Du is also a member of the audit committee of the Company. 
 
Previously, from February 1997 to December 2003, Mr. Du was the manager of the legal department of 
Guangdong Guangkong Group Limited* (廣東廣控集團有限公司) which was then a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of China Guangfa Bank. From January 2004 to December 2014, Mr. Du was a senior partner of Guangdong 
Guardian Law Firm and was mainly responsible for providing legal services. Since February 2015, Mr. Du has 
been a director and a senior partner of Guangdong YingZhen Law Firm* (廣東瀛真律師事務所). 
 
Mr. Du is currently the deputy general manager of the Guangzhou Law Society Civil Law Committee* (廣州市
法學會民法專業委員會), a manager of the Guangzhou Law Society Distressed Assets Committee* (廣州市律
師協會不良資產專業委員會), a representative of the Guangdong Province Lawyer’s Congress* (廣東省律師
代表大會), and a committee member of the Guangzhou Arbitration Commission. 
 
Mr. Du obtained his bachelor’s degree in law from Wuhan Institute of Water Transportation* (武漢水運工程
學院) in June 1992, his bachelor’s degree in finance from the Nanjing University International Business School 
in July 1996, his master’s degree in law from Jinan University in June 2002, and his doctorate degree in law 
from Wuhan University in December 2012. Mr. Du was qualified as a lawyer by the Department of Justice in 
Guangdong Province in April 2015. 
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
The following table set forth the information concerning our senior management: 
 

Name Age Position 

Date of 
appointment of 
current position 

Date of joining 
our Group Roles and responsibilities 

Relationship with 
others Directors 
and senior 
management 

       
OUYANG 

Xiaoqing   
(欧阳小青) 

42 Deputy general 

manager of the 
Group 

 

February 2025 January 2021 General management, 

quality management 
and risk control 

 

None 

Ms. OUYANG Xiaoqing (欧阳小青) (“Ms. Ouyang”), aged 42, joined the Group in January 2021 as a deputy 
general manager since the completion of Fineland E-Life, was promoted to be the general manager of risk 
control department and assistant to the Chairman in March 2021, general manager of Fineland E-Life in 
February 2024, and deputy general manager of the Group in February 2025. She is currently primarily 
responsible for the general management, service quality control and risk management.  
 
Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Ouyang was a legal affair specialist then legal affairs manager at Fineland 
Group in between June 2007 to December 2021. In between January 2013 to June 2015, Ms. Ouyang was 
head of HR and Administration department at Guangzhou Huizhao Services Limited*(廣州市輝兆商務服務有
限公司). In between June 2015 to March 2021, Ms. Ouyang joined Fineland E-Life as legal director, then 
promoted to secretary to the Board, deputy general manager.  
 
Ms. Ouyang obtained her bachelor’s degree in law from Zhengzhou University in July 2005 and her master’s 
degree in law from Jinan University in June 2007.  
 
Ms. Ouyang do not have any current or past directorships in any other listed companies. 
 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
Ms. Chan Charmayne (“Ms. Chan”) has worked for Acclime Corporate Services Limited, a corporate services 
provider, since September 2018 and was appointed as its director in July 2019. She has over 17 years of 
experience in company secretarial field. She had served in a law firm and listed companies and has extensive 
experience in performing full range of company secretarial duties for listed companies (the shares of which 
are listed on the Main Board or GEM of the Stock Exchange) and private companies of major jurisdictions. She 
is currently the company secretary of PuraPharm Corporation Limited (stock code: 1498), Bright Future 
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1351), China MeiDong Auto Holdings Limited (stock code: 1268), 
Ascentage Pharma Group Internation (stock code: 6855) and Xinyuan Property Management Service (Cayman) 
Limited (stock code: 1895) and the joint company secretary for each of Redsun Services Group Limited (stock 
code: 1971), Redsun Properties Group Limited (stock code: 1996) and Wise Living Technology Co., Ltd (stock 
code: 2481). 
 
Ms. Chan has been a Chartered Governance Professional awarded by The Chartered Governance Institute (the 
“CGI”) and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (the “HKCGI”) since March 2019 and an associate 
member of the HKCGI since January 2014 and an elected associate of the CGI since January 2014. She obtained 
a master’s degree in corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong in 
October 2013 and a bachelor’s degree in business administration and management from the University of 
Huddersfield in the United Kingdom through distance education in November 2007. 
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BOARD COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee 
Our Company has established an audit committee on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The term of reference was revised on 26 May 2020. The primary duties 
of the audit committee are, among other things, to review and supervise the financial reporting process and 
internal control system of the Group. The audit committee has three members comprising Mr. LEUNG Wai 
Hung, Mr. TIAN Qiusheng and Mr. DU Chenhua, of whom Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung has been appointed as the 
chairman of the audit committee. 
 
Remuneration Committee 
Our Company has established a remuneration committee on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference 
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The term of reference was revised on 28 December 2022. The 
remuneration committee has three members comprising Mr. HAN Shuguang, Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung and Mr. 
TIAN Qiusheng, of whom Mr. TIAN Qiusheng has been appointed as the chairman of the remuneration 
committee. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are, amongst other things, to review and 
determine the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors 
and senior management and to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for 
all remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 
 
Nomination Committee 
Our Company has established a nomination committee on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference 
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The term of reference was revised on 26 May 2020. The nomination 
committee has three members comprising Mr. Fong Ming (appointed on 30 April 2024), Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 
and Mr. TIAN Qiusheng, of whom Mr. Fong has been appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee. 
The nomination committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity 
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of our Directors and management 
of Board succession. 
 
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, total remuneration (including salaries and bonus, allowances, and 
pension costs) paid by us to our Directors amounted to approximately RMB2.0 million (2023: RMB3.4 million). 
 
Out of the five highest paid individuals, total remuneration (including salaries and bonus, and pension costs) 
paid to the four (2023: three) non-director, highest paid individuals of our Group during the year amounted 
to approximately RMB3.6 million (2023: RMB1.9 million). 
 
We did not pay our Directors or senior management any inducement fees to join us or as compensation for 
loss of office for each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Furthermore, none of our Directors 
waived any compensation for the same period. 
 
REMUNERATION POLICY 
Our Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form of directors’ fees, salaries, benefits 
in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time 
commitment and the performance of our Group. Our Group also reimburses our Directors and senior 
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to our 
Group or executing their functions in relation to the operations of our Group. We regularly review and 
determine the remuneration and compensation packages of our Directors and senior management, by 
reference to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable 
companies, the respective responsibilities of our Directors and the performance of our Group.



FINELAND LIVING SERVICES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

19

Corporate Governance Report 
The Board is committed to promoting high standards of corporate governance through its continuous effort 
in improving its corporate governance practices and process. The Board believes that sound and reasonable 
corporate governance practices are essential for sustainable growth of the Group and for safeguarding the 
interests and the Group’s assets. 
 
A clear governance structure has been established, the Board, the audit committee, the remuneration 
committee and the nomination committee in accordance with the relevant laws, Articles of Association of the 
Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the respective terms of reference. Each entity continuously 
supervises and improve the corporate governance standard of the Company to form a sound corporate 
governance structure. 
 
The Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate governance practices and is satisfied that, for the year ended 
31 December 2024, the Company had complied with all the code provisions set out in the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). 
 
Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions 
The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities transactions by directors on terms equivalent 
to the Model Code for securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in 
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company had made specific enquiries with written guidelines in relation 
to the Model Code to all Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they complied with the required 
standards set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Culture and Value 
The Company is keenly aware of the importance of environmental protection, and adopted series of initiatives, 
such as energy conservation, emission reduction, and waste sorting, to deal with environmental issues. The 
Company emphasizes a people-oriented approach, focusing on the needs of our employees and customers, 
values staff training and welfare to provides a safe and comfortable working environment. In addition, the 
Company also actively participates in social welfare activities to give back to the community and demonstrate 
its sense of social responsibility. 
 
As an integrated service provider of modern life with oriental characteristics, the Company has integrated the 
philosophy of “thinking more for you, lighting up your better life” into every aspect of its business. In the 
process of property services, the Company pays attention to details and provides personalized service 
solutions from the perspective of customers’ needs. Simultaneously, we are actively introducing new 
technologies and innovative solutions to enhance service efficiency and quality, creating more value for our 
customers. We strive to become a leading integrated service provider, making positive contributions to the 
society and the environment. 
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The Board 
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Board comprised the following 
Directors: 
 
Executive Directors 
Mr. FONG Ming (re-designated as chairman on 30 April 2024, and executive director on 17 March 2025) 
Mr. SUN Ligong (appointed as executive director and chief executive officer on 17 March 2025) 
Mr. HAN Shuguang (chief executive officer from 30 April 2024 to 17 March 2025) 
Ms. TSE Lai Wa 
 
Independent Non-executive Directors 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng 
Mr. DU Chenhua 
 
For relationship between Board members, please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of the 
Directors and Senior Management” in this report. 
 
The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility 
for leadership and control of the Company and the Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the 
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs and overseeing the achievement 
of strategic plans to enhance shareholders’ value. 
 
Generally, the Board is responsible for all major aspects of the affairs of the Company, including: 
 
 formulation of overall strategies and review of its financial performance and results and the risk 

management and internal control systems; 
 

 policies relating to key business and financial objectives of the Company; 
 
 material transactions, including acquisition, investment, disposal of assets or capital expenditure; 
 
 appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members and auditors; 
 
 communication with key stakeholders, including shareholders and regulatory bodies; and 
 
 recommendation to shareholders on final dividend and the declaration of any interim dividends. 
 
The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records so as to enable the Directors to monitor 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group. The Board updates shareholders 
on the operations and financial position of the Group through interim and annual results announcements as 
well as the publication of timely reports and announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant 
laws, rules and regulations. 
 
Directors are also provided with access to independent professional advice, where necessary, in carrying out 
their obligations as Directors, at the expense of the Company. All Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors assume the responsibilities to the shareholders for the well-being and success of the 
Company. They are aware of their duties to act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 
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Mr. Sun Ligong has been appointed as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer on 17 March 
2025. In compliance with the Listing Rules 3.09D, Mr. Sun Ligong has obtained the legal advice on 13 March 
2025 and confirmed he understood his obligations as a Director. 
 
The non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors), advise the Company on 
strategic and critical matters. The Board considers that each non-executive Director brings his own senior 
level of experience and expertise to the constructive functioning of the Board. To this end, regular informal 
meetings are held between the executive Directors and non-executive Directors. The chairman holds meetings 
with the non-executive Directors at least annually without presence of the executive Directors to evaluate the 
functioning of the Board. 
 
Each independent non-executive Directors has confirmed, in accordance with the guidelines for assessing 
independence set out in the Listing Rules that he is independent of the Company and the Company also 
considers that all of them are independent. 
 
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract for a fix term of three years with the 
Company commencing on his/her appointment date which may terminated by either party giving not less 
than six months’ written notice to the other. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered 
into a service contract for a fix term of one year with the Company commencing on his appointment date 
which may terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice to the other. The 
appointments are subject to the provisions of the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of 
Association with regard to vacation of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of Directors. 
 
The executive Directors of the Company have the responsibility to oversee and monitor the operation of 
specific business areas and to implement the strategies and policies set by the Board and the day-to-day 
management of the Company is delegated to the management. 
 
There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between 
any members of the Board. 
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The Board Committees 
For the formation and responsibilities of the Board Committee, please refer to pages 21 to 25 of this Annual 
Report. 
 
Remuneration Committee (the “RC”) 
The RC was set up on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference which were revised and adopted on 
28 December 2022. The Company has adopted the model set out in code provision E.12(c)(i) of the Code as 
its RC model under which the RC shall determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages 
of individual executive Directors and senior management. The primary duties of the RC are, among other 
things, to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration 
(including the share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) of Directors and senior management and 
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration, to 
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including but 
not limited to any grants of share options or award shares to directors or senior management, and to make 
disclosure and give explanation on the appropriateness to such material matters (if any) being approved in 
the Corporate Governance Report in the annual report of the Company, to establish and review the policy 
and structure of the remuneration of our Directors and senior management, and make recommendations on 
employee benefit arrangements to the Board, review and approve the remuneration of Directors with 
reference to the Board’s corporate goal and objectives. To minimize any conflict of interest, any member who 
is interested in any given proposed motion is required to abstain from voting on such motion. The RC is 
formed by two independent non-executive directors, one executive director, and chaired by an independent 
non-executive Director. The RC had one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2024 at which it has 
reviewed the terms of reference and discussed the 2024 performance bonus proposal of the Company, and 
discussed the remuneration package of Directors and senior management of the Company, and the 
attendance of each member is set out as follows: 
 

Name of members of Remuneration Committee 

Number of meetings 
attended in the 

financial year ended 
31 December 2024 

Mr. TIAN Qiusheng (Chairman of RC) 1/1 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 1/1 
Mr. HAN Shuguang 1/1 
 

Nomination Committee (the “NC”) 
The NC was set up on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference which were revised and adopted on 
26 May 2020. The primary duties of the NC are, among other things, to review the structure, size and 
composition (including but not limited to the gender, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and 
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy. When identifying suitable director candidates and making recommendations to the Board, the NC 
will consider factors such as a mix to promote diversity of background and experience on the Board, 
competency, business, technical, or specialized skills, and commitment and willingness to serve. The NC 
comprises two independent non-executive directors, one executive director, and is chaired by an executive 
Director who is also the chairman of the Board. The NC had one meeting during the year ended 31 December 
2024 at which it reviewed the terms of reference, structure, size and composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) of the Board, assessed the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors and made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors considering their 
experience and qualifications. The attendance of each member is set out as follows: 
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Name of members of Nomination Committee 

Number of meetings 
attended in the 

financial year ended 
31 December 2024 

Mr. Han Shuguang (resigned as the Chairman of NC on 30 April 2024) 1/1 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung  1/1 
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng 1/1 
Mr. Fong Ming (appointed as the Chairman of NC on 30 April 2024) 0/0 
 
Audit Committee (the “AC”) 
The AC was set up on 23 October 2017 with written terms of reference which were revised and adopted on 
26 May 2020. The primary duties of the AC are, among other things, to make recommendations to our Board 
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements 
(including those included in the annual report and interim report of the Company), oversee our financial 
reporting process, risk management and internal control procedures, risk management systems and audit 
process and perform other duties and responsibilities assigned by our Board. The AC comprises all 
independent non-executive directors and is chaired by an independent non-executive Director, Mr. LEUNG 
Wai Hung. He is a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and also a member of 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and he possesses extensive experience in finance and 
accounting. The AC had six meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024 at which it reviewed the terms 
of reference and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated financial results for the year ended 31 
December 2023 including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group, change of auditors, 
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the connected transactions, the effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems as well as the Group’s internal audit function. Out of the six 
meetings, the AC met with the external auditor without the presence of the executive Directors in five of them. 
The AC has recommended to the Board to consider the appointment of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the 
Company’s external independent auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The attendance of each 
member is set out as follows: 
 

Name of members of Remuneration Committee 

Number of meetings 
attended in the 

financial year ended 
31 December 2024 

Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung (Chairman of NC) 6/6 
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng 6/6 
Mr. DU Chenhua 6/6 
 
Board Diversity Policy 
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its 
performance. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing 
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and 
its sustainable development. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be 
considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The board 
diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) adopted aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. 
A summary of the Diversity Policy is set out below: 
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Measurable Objectives and Implementation 
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, profession experience, skills, knowledge and length of 
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring 
to the Board. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting 
The NC will report annually, in this annual report, on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, 
and monitor the implementation of Diversity Policy. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the NC held one meeting to review the Board’s composition, and 
was of the opinion that the Board consisted of members with different gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All executive Directors possess extensive and 
diversified experience in management, finance and real estate industry-related experience. The independent 
non-executive Directors possess professional knowledge in corporate finance and accountancy, legal, and 
real estate business management. Further details of the Directors are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in this report. 
 
Review of the Diversity Policy 
The NC will review the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Diversity Policy. The 
NC will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for 
consideration and approval. 
 
Diversity on Senior Management and Other Workforce 
As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce including senior management) is 50.7% (male): 

49.3% (female). For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together 

with the relevant data, please refer to the section headed “Social Responsibilities” under the Environmental, 

Social and Governance Report of the Company. 

 
Nomination Policy 
The Company has adopted a nomination policy on 15 February 2019, which established written guidelines for 
the NC to identify individual suitably qualified to become Board members and to make recommendations to 
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria. 
In assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate, the NC shall consider the factors including, among 
others, (a) the reputation for integrity; (b) the accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and 
industry of the Company, including the property management industry and other relevant sectors; (c) the 
commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the businesses of the Company and its 
subsidiaries; (d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural or educational and 
professional background, skills, knowledge and experience; (e) the ability to assist and support management 
and make significant contributions to the Company’s success; and (f) the compliance with the criteria of 
independence, in case for the appointment of an independent non-executive director. The Board is ultimately 
responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors. The Board, through the delegation of its authority 
to the NC, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant 
background, experience and knowledge in business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s 
business to enable the Board to make sound and well-considered decisions. Collectively, they have 
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group. 
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Dividend Policy 
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with effect from 15 February 2019. In 
deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into 
account, among other things, the following factors: 
 
(i) the Company’s current and future operations, actual and expected financial performance; 

 
(ii) any corporate development plans;
 
(iii) the Group’s liquidity position, working capital and capital expenditure requirements and future expected 

capital needs; 
 
(iv) the level of the Group’s debt to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants; 
 
(v) any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders or other third 

parties; 
 
(vi) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;  
 
(vii) general economic conditions, the business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal and external 

factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; 
and 

 
(viii) any other factor that the Board deems appropriate and relevant. 
 
The declaration and payment of dividends is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles of Association. 
 
Board Composition and Board and Committee Meetings 
Practices and Conduct of Meetings 
Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least four regular Board meetings should be held in 
each year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of directors, either in person 
or through other electronic means of communication. Since the listing of the Company on GEM on 15 
November 2017 (“Listing Date”), the Board adopted the practice to meet four times a year at approximately 
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in advance. Other Board meetings will be 
held if necessary and notice will be given at a reasonable time in advance. 
 
Composition 
As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three 
independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four executive 
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The Company has met the requirements of the 
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least 
one of whom is with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 
expertise throughout the year and up to the date of the annual report. Biographical details of the Directors 
are shown on pages 11 to 16 of this report and set out on the website of the Company. The “List of Directors 
and their Role and Function” was published both on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. 
The Board is currently supported by the AC, RC and NC to oversee specific areas of the Company’s affairs. 
Each of these committees has been established with written terms of reference, which were approved by the 
Board, setting out the committees’ major duties and responsibilities. These terms of reference were published 
both on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. 
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Meetings Held and Attendance 
The composition of the Board and the Committees, and the individual attendance records of each Director at 
the Board and Committees’ meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below: 
 

Name of Directors 

Meetings attended/Meetings held 

Board meetings 
AC 
meetings 

RC  
meetings 

NC  
meetings 

Annual 
general 
meetings 

Extraordinary 
general 
meetings 

 
Executive Directors 
Mr. HAN Shuguang 4/4  1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 
Ms. TSE Lai Wa 4/4    1/1 1/1 
 
Non-executive Director 
Mr. FONG Ming 4/4    1/1 1/1 
 
Independent Non-executive Directors 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 4/4 6/6 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng 4/4 6/6 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 
Mr. DU Chenhua 4/4 6/6   1/1 1/1 
 
Induction and Continuous Development 
Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction package (the “Package”) designed to 
enhance his/her knowledge and understanding of the Group’s culture and operations. The Package usually 
includes a briefing or an introduction to the Group’s structure, businesses strategies, recent developments 
and governance practices. 
 
Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, in order to keep Directors informed and refresh their 
relevant knowledge and skill (Note), the Company has funded suitable trainings and encouraged Directors to 
participate in continuous professional development programs. The Directors have confirmed that they have 
received training: 
 
Name of Directors who have attended seminars or briefings or have read journals 
Mr. HAN Shuguang  
Ms. TSE Lai Wa  
Mr. FONG Ming  
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung  
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng  
Mr. DU Chenhua  
 
Note:   
Training set out above refers to training relevant to the Group’s business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and 
regulations, accounting, financial or professional skills and/or directors’ duties and responsibilities. 

 
The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous professional development so that they can continue 
contributing to the Company, and the Company provides support whenever relevant and necessary.  
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Accountability and Audit 
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties 
relating to events or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to cont inue in 
business. Accordingly, the Board has prepared the financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis. 
 

The Board also acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment 
in the Company’s annual and half-yearly reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial 
disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and to report information required to be disclosed pursuant to 
statutory requirements to the regulators. 
 
The above statements, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditor’s report, are made 
with a view to distinguishing for shareholders how the responsibilities of the Directors differ from those of the 
auditor in relation to the financial statements. 
 
Having made appropriate enquiries and examined major areas which could give rise to significant financial 
exposures, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements for the year, the Directors considered the Group has applied 
appropriate accounting policies consistently, made judgments and estimates that are reasonable in 
accordance with applicable accounting standards. 
 
Auditor’s Remuneration 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid or payable to KTC Partners CPA Limited and 
its affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services provided amounted to approximately 
RMB1,293,000 (equivalent to HK$1,400,000) and RMBNil respectively. 
 
The remuneration paid or payable to another auditor for audit services in PRC was approximately RMB259,000 
(2023: RMB354,000). 
 
Corporate Governance Function 
The written terms of reference of the corporate governance functions were adopted by the Company on 23 
October 2017 and the Board is collectively responsible for the following corporate governance functions: 
 
1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make  

recommendations on changes and updates; 
 

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management; 

 
3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements; 
 

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees and Directors; 
 

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in corporate governance reports; 
and 
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6. such other corporate governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code (as amended from time to 
time) for which the Board are responsible. 

 
Risk Management and Internal Control 
The Company had established internal risk management process and procedures to identify, assess and 
manage major risks of the Group. The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining an 
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. 
However, such procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
The management is responsible for implementing the procedures approved by the Board and to monitor 
compliance with the procedures. The AC reviews the risk areas and assesses the feasibility and effectiveness 
of the procedures at least once a year. 
 
The key features of the Company’s risk management and internal control system include: (i) designated 
departments for implementation and execution; (ii) the management ensures appropriate measures have 
been taken in relation to the significant risks that may affect business and operation; and (iii) designated 
department to provide independent confirmation to the Board, AC and the management on the effectiveness 
of risk management and internal control. 
 
The internal audit function monitors the Company’s internal governance and provides independent 
confirmation on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system. The 
internal audit team in charge reports directly to AC, submit the internal audit report to the AC, and reports 
the results of internal audit works to all Directors. 
 
The Company performed an internal audit to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems which covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls as well as risk management functions and to identify and resolve potential internal control defects 
during the year ended 31 December 2024. An independent confirmation and an internal control report on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system for the year ended 31 
December 2024 was provided to and reviewed by the AC and the Board. No major issue was raised for 
improvement. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered that the risk management and 
internal control system of the Company is adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the 
code provisions on internal control and risk management of the CG Code. 
 
To minimize the risk of ineffective communication and enhance overall audit transparency in the future, the 
Company has implemented measures and improvements to enhance the process of preparing the financial 
results. These measures include (a) facilitating regular and transparent communication and coordination with 
the auditor of the Company throughout the reporting process, including aligning work schedules with the 
audit timetable, informing the auditor of the Company about any significant changes in external environments 
or business operations, agreeing on the audit approach and necessary documents with the auditor of the 
Company, holding regular meetings with clear procedures to address any audit findings or issues that may 
affect the reporting timeline; and (b) enhancing its audit planning process to ensure that all necessary steps 
are taken well in advance of the reporting deadline, including establishing a clear timeline for the reporting 
process, and identifying and escalating any audit issues to the audit committee of the Company promptly for 
resolution. 
 
To address the going concern issue raised by the auditor in its report for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the Company has implemented the following measures and procedures to mitigate relevant risks and enhance 
financial stability:  
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1. Strengthening Cash Flow through Accelerated Receivables Recovery 
the Company has intensified its efforts to recover outstanding receivables from both corporate clients 
and individual homeowners, which include:  
 
• implementing a structured, multi-tiered collection process with escalating actions for overdue 

accounts (e.g., reminders, formal demand letters, and legal proceedings if necessary) ; 
 

• offering incentives for early settlement (e.g., discounts) to encourage timely collections; and 
 

• enhancing monitoring through real-time accounts receivable dashboards to track progress and 
address high-risk cases proactively; 

 
2. Optimizing Investment Properties for Liquidity 

to unlock additional liquidity, the Company is actively managing its portfolio of investment properties by 
leasing out underutilized properties to generate steady rental income and improve cash flow, and 
selectively selling non-core assets at favorable market prices, with a focus on maximizing value while 
ensuring timely execution. 

 

3. Rigorous Cost Reduction Initiatives 
the Company has undertaken a comprehensive review of its operating expenses to reduce fixed costs 
without compromising core business functions, including immediate cost-cutting measures on non-
essential expenditures, streamlining reporting lines and consolidating overlapping functions to eliminate 
redundant role, etc.  

 
The Company has established the inside information policy for fair and timely dissemination to public based 
on applicable laws and regulations. The Director authorized by the Group to take charge of the investor 
relations, corporate matters and financial control functions is responsible for ensuring and monitoring 
compliance with the applicable disclosure procedures. The relevant Director may access inside information 
confidential until public disclosure. The Company has other procedures in place to prevent mishandling of 
inside information, including prior approval of trading of the Company’s securities by Directors and the 
management, regular notice of lock-up period, restrictions on securities trading of Directors and staff and 
code for project identification. 
 
Besides, the Company regularly reminds the directors and employees about due compliance with all policies 
regarding the inside information. The Company keeps directors and employees appraised of the latest 
regulatory updates to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements. 
 
Company Secretary 
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to approval by the Board in accordance 
with the Articles of Association. The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring the Board procedures and 
policy are followed and Board activities are effectively conducted. The Company Secretary is also responsible 
for maintaining minutes recorded in sufficient details of all the meetings of the Board and committees of the 
Company. Draft and final versions of minutes are disseminated to Directors for comment and filed for record 
purposes respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting. The Directors have full and timely access 
to the minutes of the Board and committees of the Company. The Company Secretary, Mr. TSO Ping Cheong 
(“Mr. Tso”), who was hired from an external service provider confirmed that he has complied with all the 
qualifications, experience, and training requirements under the Listing Rules, including taking no less than 15 
hours of relevant professional training.  
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Mr. Tso has reigned as the Company Secretary on 1 January 2025. Following Mr. Tso’s resignation, Ms. CHAN 
Charmayne (“Ms. Chan”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary on the same day. Her primary contact 
in the Company is Mr. Han Shuguang, an executive Director of the Company. 
 
Shareholders’ Rights 
The general meetings of the Company provided an opportunity for communication between the shareholders 
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may 
be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an 
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). 
 
Right to Convene EGMs and Procedures 
Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. 
Any one or more member(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one tenth of 
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, shall at 
all times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s principal place of bus iness as set out in 
the manner below, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified 
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. 
 
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the 
following: 
 
Principal place of business of the Company in the PRC:  
No.28 Tiyu East Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, PRC 
 

Registered office of the Company: 
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands 
 
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed duly to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) 
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company. 
 
For matters in relation to the Board, the shareholders can contact the Company by post to principal place of 
business of the Company in Hong Kong: Unit B, 17/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong 
or by email to ir@fydc.cn. 
 
Right to Put Enquiries to the Board 
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All such enquiries shall be in writing and sent by 
post to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the company 
secretary. 
 
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company. 
 
Right to Put forward Proposals at General Meetings 
There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions at the general meetings under the 
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, as amended, modified and supplemental from time to time. However, 
pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of 
requisitions convene an EGM following the procedures set out above. 
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Constitutional Documents 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents. 
The Articles of Association are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. 
 
Investor Relations 
The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining on-going communication with the shareholders. The 
Company promotes communications with the shareholders through several communication channels 
including publication of notices, circulars and announcements of key developments , and interim and annual 
reports as prescribed under the Listing Rules which can also be accessed via the “ Investor Relations” of the 
Company’s website. 
 
The Company aims to improve its transparency, gain more understanding and confidence in relation to the 
Group’s business developments and acquire more market recognition and support from the shareholders. 
The shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company. The notices of the special 
general meetings and annual general meeting of the Company were circulated to all the shareholders in 
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. It is a standard practice 
to have the non-executive Directors available to answer questions relating to their roles, tenure, and the 
committees of the Board. The results of voting by poll are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company after the meetings. 
 
Any comments and suggestions to the Board can be addressed to our Hong Kong office or the Company 
Secretary by mail to Unit B, 17/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong or email at ir@fydc.cn. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has reviewed its shareholders communication policy, 
and believes it is appropriate and effective.
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Principal Place of Business 
The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has its registered office and 
principal place of business at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, 
Cayman Islands and Unit B, 17/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong respectively. 
 
Principal Activities and Business Review 
The principal activities of the Group are (i) comprehensive real estate agency services; (ii) professional property 
management services. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including the Group’s business review and a discussion of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of like ly future developments in the Group’s 
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 5 to 12 of this Annual 
Report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report. 
 
Major Customers and Suppliers 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, our largest customer accounted for approximately 1.3% of total 
revenue. The aggregate sales to our five largest customers contributed approximately 4.9% of our total sales 
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Two customers are connected customers as they are the group 
entities within the Fineland Group. Together, customers that were entities within the Fineland Group in 
aggregate accounted for approximately 4.8% of total revenue.  
 
The Group’s major suppliers are sub-contractors providing relevant services for the Group’s property 
management business. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 
approximately 23.4% of the Group’s total purchases, and the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 
approximately 40.6% of the Group’s total purchases. 
 
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholder of the 
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the 
Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and suppliers 
 
Segment Information 
The segment information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 6 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Recommended Dividend 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 
Nil). 
 
Closure of Register of Members 
The AGM is expected to be held on Friday, 20 June 2025. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote 
at the AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June to Friday, 20 June 
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In 
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Computershare 
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16 June 2024. 
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Gearing Ratio 
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has gearing ratio (total liabilities divided by total assets) of 77% compared 
to that of 64% as at 31 December 2023. 
 
Charitable Donations 
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). 
 
Share Capital 
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set 
out in note 25 to the financial statements. Details about the issue of shares are also set out in note 25 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Company’s Listed Securities 
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed 
securities (including treasury shares, as defined under the Listing Rules) on the Stock Exchange, by private 
arrangement, or by way of grant offer, during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, 
the Company did not hold any treasury shares. 
 
Property, Pant and Equipment 
Details of movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 
are set out in note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
Intangible Assets 
Details of the movement in intangible assets of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out 
in notes 27 to 28 to the financial statements. 
 
Distributable Reserves 
As at 31 December 2024, the Company had the Company had no distributable reserves. Details of the 
movements in the reserves of the Company for the year are set out in note 39 to the financial statements.  
 
Pre-emptive Rights 
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.  
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Directors 
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report were: 
 
Executive Directors 
Mr. FONG Ming (re-designated as executive Director on 17 March 2025) 
Mr. SUN Ligong (appointed on 17 March 2025) 
Mr. Han Shuguang 
Ms. TSE Lai Wa 
 
Independent Non-executive Directors 
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 
Mr. TIAN Qiusheng 
Mr. DU Chenhua 
 
Directors’ Service Contracts 
Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years 
commencing from the Listing Date or appointment date and shall continue thereafter until terminated by, not 
less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.  
 
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for 
an initial term of one year commencing from the Listing Date, and renewed each year for one year, subject to 
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting and until terminated by not less than one 
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other. 
 
Pursuant to article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Fong Ming, Mr. Leung Wai Hung and Mr. Du Chenhua 
will retire from office by rotation, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general 
meeting (the “AGM”). 
 
Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Associations, Mr. Sun Ligong, who was appointed as executive Director 
on 17 March 2025, will hold office until the AGM. He, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 
AGM.  
 
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract which is not 
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than normal statutory obligations. 
 
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and 
Debentures 
As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives in the Shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 
they were taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded 
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows: 
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(i) Long positions in Shares of the Company 
 
  Total number Percentage of 
Name Nature of interest of shares held shareholding 

Mr. Fong Interest in controlled corporation(1) 225,948,000 56.49% 

Ms. Tse Interest in controlled corporation(1) 225,948,000 56.49% 

Mr. Han Interest in controlled corporation(2) 4,500,000 1.125% 
 

Notes: 
(1) 97,200,000 Shares are held by Mansion Green Holdings Limited (“Mansion Green”), which is wholly-owned by 

Mr. Fong through his holding companies (including Stand Smooth Group Limited (“Stand Smooth”), Hero 

Dragon Management Limited (“Hero Dragon”), Fineland Group Holdings Company Limited (“Fineland Group 
Holdings”, formerly known as Fineland Real Estate Holdings Company Limited) and Widethrive Investments 

Limited (“Widethrive Investments”). 64,800,000 Shares are held by Aspiring Vision Holdings Limited (“Aspiring 
Vision”), which is wholly-owned by Ms. Tse. 60,000,000 Shares are held by Huiyu Investment Holdings Limited 

(“Huiyu Investment”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. HUANG Peng (“Mr. Huang”). Mr. Huang and his spouse 
are interested in 3,948,000 Shares. And pursuant to the deed of concert parties, Mr. Fong and Ms. Tse are 

therefore deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares in which each of Mr. Fong, Mr. Huang and 
Ms. Tse is interested. 

 
(2) Shares are held by Adwan Orient Holdings Limited (“Adwan”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Han. 

 
(3) All interests are calculated based on the total Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024, being 400,000,000 Shares. 

 
(ii) Associated Corporation 

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the 
Company had any interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was 
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. 

 
Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and 
Underlying Shares 
As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) were 
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company which were recorded in the register of 
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or to be disclosed under 
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the Listing Rules: 
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Long positions in Shares  

Name Nature of Interest 
Number of 
Shares held 

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding 

    
Ms. HE Kangkang (何康康)(1) Interest of spouse 225,948,000 56.49% 

Mr. ZHENG Muming (鄭木明)(2) Interest of spouse 225,948,000 56.49% 

Mr. HUANG Peng (黃鵬)(3) Interest in a controlled corporation, 
interest of spouse and a legal and 
beneficial owner 

225,948,000 56.49% 

Ms. ZHENG Hui (鄭暉)(4) Interest in a controlled corporation, 
interest of spouse and a legal and 
beneficial owner 

225,948,000 56.49% 

Mansion Green(5) Legal and beneficial owner 97.200.000 24.3% 

Widethrive Investments(5) Interest in a controlled corporation 97.200.000 24.3% 

Fineland Group Holdings(5) Interest in a controlled corporation 97.200.000 24.3% 

Hero Dragon(5) Interest in a controlled corporation 97.200.000 24.3% 

Stand Smooth(5) Interest in a controlled corporation 97.200.000 24.3% 

Aspiring Vision(2) Legal and beneficial owner 64.800.000 16.2% 

Huiyu Investment(3) Legal and beneficial owner 60.000.000 15% 

 
Notes: 
(1) Ms. HE Kangkang (“Ms. He”) is the spouse of Mr. Fong. Under the SFO, Ms. He is deemed to be interested in the 

same number of Shares in which Mr. Fong is interested in. 
 

(2) 64,800,000 Shares, representing 16.2% of the issued share capital of the Company, are held by Aspiring Vision, which 
is wholly-owned by Ms. Tse. And pursuant to the deed of concert parties, Ms. Tse is therefore deemed to be 
interested in the total number of Shares in which each of Mr. Fong, Mr. Huang and Ms. Tse is interested. Mr. ZHENG 
Muming (“Mr. Zheng”) is the spouse of Ms. Tse. Under the SFO, Mr. Zheng is deemed to be interested in the same 
number of Shares in which Ms. Tse is interested. 

 
(3) 60,000,000 Shares, representing 15% of the issued share capital of the Company, are held by Huiyu Investment, which 

is wholly-owned by Mr. Huang. Mr. Huang and his spouse are interested in 3,948,000 Shares. And pursuant to the 
deed of concert parties, Mr. Huang is therefore deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares in which each 
of Mr. Fong, Mr. Huang and Ms. Tse is interested. 

 

(4) Ms. ZHENG Hui (“Ms. Zheng”) is the spouse of Mr. Huang. Under the SFO, Ms. Zheng is deemed to be interested in 
the same number of Shares in which Mr. Huang is interested. 

 
(5) Mansion Green is the registered owner of 97,200,000 Shares, representing 24.3% of the issued share capital of the 

Company. Mansion Green is wholly-owned by Stand Smooth. Stand Smooth is wholly owned by Hero Dragon, which 
is wholly-owned by Fineland Group Holdings, which in turn is wholly owned by Widethrive Investments, and 

ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Fong. Accordingly, Widethrive Investments, Fineland Group Holdings, Hero Dragon 
and Stand Smooth are therefore deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mansion Green is 

interested under the SFO. 
 

(6) All interests are calculated based on the total Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024, being 400,000,000 Shares. 
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not aware of any other persons who 
had any interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares and debentures of the Company which 
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or 
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO. 
 
Share option scheme 
A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 23 October 2017. As of 
the date of this report, no option had been granted, agreed, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share 
Option Scheme. 
 
1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme 

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant Share Options to the eligible 
persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit 
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to our Group or any 
entity in which any member of our Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”). As at the date 
of this report, there was no Invested Entity other than members of our Group, and our Group has not 
identified any potential Invested Entity for investment. 

 
2. Who may join and basis for determining eligibility 

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons (being any director or employee (whether 
full time or part time), consultant or adviser of our Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has 
contributed to and/or will contribute to our Group) (the “Eligible Persons”) to subscribe for such number 
of Shares in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. 

 
3. Grant of options 

(a) On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, our Board shall be entitled at any time 
on a business day within ten years commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme 
to offer the grant of a Share Option to any Eligible Person as our Board may in its absolute discretion 
select in accordance with the eligibility criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall 
be accepted when we receive the duly signed offer letter together with a non-refundable payment 
of HK$1.00 (or such other sum in any currency as our Board may determine). 

 
(b) Any grant of Share Options to any Director, substantial Shareholder, chief executive of our Company 

or their respective associates must be approved by all of our Company’s independent non-executive 
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a proposed grantee). 

 
4. Exercise Price 

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined by our 
Board and notified to each grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a 
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, 
which must be a business day,(ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date 
of grant of the relevant option and the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. 

 
5. Maximum number of Shares 

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Share 
Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 
schemes of our Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue 
from time to time. No Share Options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of our Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded. 
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The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to any 
one Eligible Person (including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall not 
exceed one percent of the Shares in issue from time to time. 

 
6. Time of exercise of option 

(a) Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, a Share Option may be 
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof 
at any time during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten years from the date of 
grant of option. 

 
(b) There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which a Share Option must be held or 

the performance targets which must be achieved before a Share Option can be exercised under the 
terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting any Share Option, our Board 
may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations 
including (without limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of the Share Options to be 
held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as our Board may determine in its absolute 
discretion. 

 
7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme 

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date 
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 23 October 2017. 
 
During the year of 2024, no option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme adopted by the 
Company on 23 October 2017. 
 
The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this 
annual report was 40,000,000 share options, and upon its full exercise, representing 10% of the total 
number of shares in issue as at the date of this annual report. 

 
Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures 
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in 
shares, underlying shares and debentures” and “Share option scheme” above, at no time during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated corporations, a party to 
any arrangement to enable the directors and chief executive of the Company (including their respective 
spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of the shares or 
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any of its associated corporations. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out in note 31 to the financial 
statements. 
 
Other than as disclosed in the section below headed connected transaction and continuing connected 
transaction, the Directors confirm that the remaining related party transactions set out in note 31 to the 
financial statements constituted exempt connected transactions and exempt continuing connected 
transactions, and that the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
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Developments of Previous Connected Transactions 
On 21 June 2023, Guangzhou Fineland Living Services Limited* (廣州方圓生活服務有限公司) (“Guangzhou 
Fineland Living”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser, and Heshan Fudu 
Property Development Company Limited* (鶴山市富都物業發展有限公司) (“Heshan Fudu”), as vendor, 
entered into a  settlement agreement, pursuant to which, Guangzhou Fineland Living has conditionally agreed 
to procure the  relevant purchaser(s) to pay the down payment of approximately RMB4.0 million and set-off 
the outstanding  receivables of approximately RMB16.0 million which remained outstanding and payable by 
Heshan Fudu to Guangzhou Fineland Living and its subsidiaries by way of accepting the transfer of 23 
properties from Heshan Fudu to the relevant purchaser(s). By the end of 2023, Heshan Fudu and the relevant 
purchaser(s) have entered into the respective property presale agreement(s) and completed the filing(s) with 
the relevant local housing authority (the “Filing(s)”) in accordance with the terms of the property presale 
agreement and the result of the Filing(s) status have been publicly available on the website of the relevant 
local housing authority. The actual delivery of the 23 properties will be subject to among others, the relevant 
properties being granted the construction project completion acceptance certification and the housing survey 
report which is expected to take place on or before 30 August 2025. 
 
On 6 December 2023, Guangzhou Fineland Living, as purchaser, and Guangzhou Fineland Real Estate 
Development Limited* (廣州市方圓房地產發展有限公司, “Vendor A”), as vendor, entered into a settlement 
agreement I (as amended and supplemented on 22 December 2023), pursuant to which, Guangzhou Fineland 
Living has conditionally agreed to set-off outstanding receivables of approximately RMB13.1 million owed to 
it and its subsidiaries by subsidiaries of Vendor A, by way of accepting the transfer of seven commercial 
properties situated in Yunshan Poetry Garden I and six car parking spaces situated in Fangyuan Xinhui Moon 
Island Mansion from the subsidiaries of Vendor A to the relevant purchaser(s). As at the date of this annual 
report, we have obtained the title certificates of seven commercial properties situated in Yunshan Poetry 
Garden I and the six car parking spaces situated in Fangyuan Xinhui Moon Island Mansion. Accordingly, all 
the settlement transactions under such settlement agreement have been completed. 
 
On 6 December 2023, Guangzhou Fineland Living, Vendor A and Guangzhou Zengcheng Fangyuan 
Mingsheng Real Estate Limited* (廣州市增城區方圓明盛房地產有限公司 , “Vendor B” ) entered into a 
settlement agreement (as amended and supplemented on 22 December 2023), pursuant to which, 
Guangzhou Fineland Living has conditionally agreed to set-off the outstanding receivables of approximately 
RMB2.7 million owed to it and its subsidiaries by a subsidiary of Vendor A (for approximately RMB2.1 million) 
and Vendor B (for approximately RMB0.6 million), by way of accepting the transfer of four commercial 
properties situated in Fangyuan Zengcheng Yunxi (Guangzhou) from Vendor B to the relevant purchaser(s). 
As at the date of this annual report, we have obtained the title certificates of the three commercial properties 
situated in Fangyuan Zengcheng Yunxi (Guangzhou). However, due to the unfulfilled conditions precedent 
for the remaining one commercial property by the agreed long stop date, the Group has partially rescinded 
the settlement agreement in accordance with its terms because such property has been placed under court 
restriction prohibiting the transfer of its title without court consent. Upon the partial recession of such 
settlement agreement, all above outstanding receivables from Vendor B and approximately RMB1.4 million in 
above outstanding receivables from Vendor A have been settled. Accordingly, despite the partial recession as 
mentioned above, all of the other settlement transactions under such settlement agreement have been 
completed. The Company is still communicating and negotiating with Vendor A to recover the remaining 
balance of the outstanding receivables. 
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Continuing Connected Transactions 
1. The Renewed Master Agency Service Agreement 

On 25 October 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries, as service providers) and 
Fineland Group Holdings (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries, as service recipients) entered into a 
renewed master agency service agreement, pursuant to which our Group agreed to provide real estate 
agency services in the primary property market to members of the Fineland Group for a term 
commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (the “2024 Master Agency Service 
Agreement”). Fineland Group Holdings is an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus 
a connected person of the Company.  
 
As disclosed in the circular of the Company date 23 November 2023, the Directors estimated that the 
maximum annual fees charged by the Group in relation to the services to be provided under the 2024 
Master Agency Service Agreement for each of the three years ending 31 December 2026 will not exceed 
RMB81.0 million, RMB90.0 million and RMB99.0 million (the “Agency Service Annual Caps”), respectively. 
 
As the highest applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) in respect 
of the Agency Service Annual Caps is more than 5% and each of the Agency Service Annual Caps is more 
than HK$10 million, the transactions contemplated under the 2024 Master Agency Service Agreement 
are subject to annual review, reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions and Agency Service Annual Caps 
were approved by the independent shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held 
on 20 December 2023. 
 

2. The Master Property Management Services Agreements 
The Company completed the acquisition of approximately 66.31% of equity interests in Fineland E-Life 
on 28 January 2021. Following the completion and on the same day, the Company entered into master 
property management services agreements to continue rendering property management services to the 
members and associates of the Fineland Group. 
 
On 25 October 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Mr. Fong (on behalf 
of Mr. Fong’s Associated Companies (including the Fineland Group and the Fineland Education Group)) 
entered in to a renewed master property management services agreement (the “2024 Master Property 
Management Services Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide property 
management services to Mr. Fong’s Associated Companies for a term from 1 January 2024 to 31 
December 2026. As at the date of the 2024 Master Property Management Services Agreement, Mr. Fong 
was a non-executive Directors and a controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus a connected 
person of the Company.  
 
As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 23 November 2023, the estimated maximum annual 
fees charged by the Group in relation to the services to be provided under the 2024 Master Property 
Management Services Agreement for each of the three years ending 31 December 2026 will not exceed 
RMB32.0 million, RMB34.0 million and RMB36.0 million (the “Property Management Service Annual 
Caps”), respectively. 
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As the highest applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) in respect 
of the Property Management Service Annual Caps is more than 5% and each of the Property Management 
Service Annual Caps is more than HK$10 million, the transactions contemplated under Master Property 
Management Service Agreements are subject to annual review, reporting, announcement and 
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 
transactions contemplated under the 2024 Master Property Services Agreements and the Property 
Management Service Annual Caps were approved by the independent shareholders at the Company’s 
extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2023. 
 

3. The master lease agreement 
On 25 October 2025, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Fineland Group 
Holdings (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a renewed master lease agreement (the 
“2024 Master Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which any subsidiaries of the Company as tenant may 
continue, amend, renew the existing lease agreements or enter into new leases with members of the 
Fineland Group for a term from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. As disclosed in the announcement 
of the Company dated 25 October 2023, the annual caps under the 2024 Master Lease Agreement for 
each of the three years ending 31 December 2026 will not exceed RMB4.25 million, RMB4.5 million and 
RMB4.75 million (the “Lease Annual Caps”), respectively. Fineland Group Holdings is an indirect 
controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus a connected person of the Company. 
 
As the highest applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) in respect 
of the annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement is more than 
5% but less than 25%, and do not exceeds HK$10 million, the 2024 Master Lease Agreement (including 
the Lease Annual Caps) and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the announcement, 
reporting and annual review requirements, but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval 
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
 

Service 
provider Service recipient Nature of transactions 

Annual cap 
for the year  

ended 31  
December 2024 

Total amount 
for the year  

ended 31  
December 2024 

     
Our Group Fineland Group Holdings 

and other connected 
parties 
 

Master Agency Service 
Agreement 

RMB81,000,000 RMB1,531,000 
 (as agency  

services fee) 
 

RMB29,817,000 
(as Outstanding 
Earnest Money 

Balance 
  

Our Group Mr. Fong Ming’s 
associates  
 

Master Property 
Management Services 
Agreement 
 

RMB32,000,000 RMB16,328,000 

Our Group Fineland Group Holdings 
and other connected 
parties 

Master Lease Agreement RMB4,250,000 RMB3,266,000 
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Note: 
The total transaction amount under the Master Agency Service Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes 

(i) the agency service fee of RMB1,531,000; and (ii) the outstanding earnest money balance of RMB29,817,000 (the 
“Outstanding Earnest Money Balance”)as at 31 December 2024, accrued as a result of the earnest money payment 

arrangement which is part and parcel of the 2021 Master Agency Service Agreement. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the above continuing connected transactions were carried out 
within their respective annual caps and has followed the pricing policies when determining the price and terms 
of the transactions conducted. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that 
during the year ended 31 December 2024, the above continuing connected transactions were conducted and 
entered into: 

 
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;  

 
(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and 

 
(iii) according to the agreements governing it on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

the Company’s shareholders as a whole. 
 

Outstanding Earnest Money Balance 
The Outstanding Earnest Money Balance was accrued as a result of the earnest money payment arrangement 
which is part and parcel of the Group’s real estate agency service business. It is an industry practice developed 
under the rapidly changing, challenging and competitive PRC real estate market, whereby the Group would 
pay to property developers an upfront earnest money, being usually 50% to 100% of the agreed value of the 
properties the Group is appointed to sell. In return, the Group is entitled to an exclusive agency right to sell 
the properties during an exclusive period and to receive the relevant portion of the consideration for the sold 
properties to off-set against the earnest money paid in respect of the relevant agreed value of such sold 
properties. In addition, the Group shall be entitled to an agency commission equivalent to the amount 
exceeding the agreed value of the sold properties. At the end of the exclusive period, the Group shall be 
entitled to a full refund of any outstanding earnest money. However, there will be no earnest money payment 
arrangement for the Group’s services to be provided pursuant to the 2024 Master Agency Service Agreement. 

 
The Outstanding Earnest Money Balance which was initially expected to be repaid by 31 December 2023, 
remains unsettled. On 13 March 2024, a civil legal proceeding (the “Litigation” ) has been initiated by 
Guangzhou Fangyuan Real Estate Agency Co., Ltd.* (廣州方圓房服房地產代理有限公司 ) (“Fangyuan 
Agency”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, against Guangzhou Fangyuan Huijin Real Estate 
Development Limited* (廣州方圓匯金房地產發展有限公司) (“Fangyuan Huijin”), a company ultimately non-
wholly owned by Mr. Fong, with the People’s Court of Guangzhou Tianhe District in respect of the Outstanding 
Earnest Money Balance of approximately RMB14,180,000 owed by Fangyuan Huijin to Fangyuan Agency. 
Fangyuan Agency requested Fangyuan Huijin to repay the outstanding balance along with accrued interest. 

 
On 23 October 2024 and 20 March 2025, the Company has secured a favorable judgment and an enforcement 
order, respectively. The court will proceed with compulsory enforcement actions against Fangyuan Huijin to 
fulfill its obligations under the judgement.  
 
As at the date of this annual report, the Company was still communicating and negotiating with the relevant 
members of Fineland Group to recover the remaining balance of the Outstanding Earnest Money Balance.  
 
Confirmation from Auditor of the Company 
The Board has received an unqualified letter issued by the auditor of the Company in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 (Revised) and Practice Note 740 (Revised) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants confirming that: 
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a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the above non-exempt continuing 
connected transactions have not been approved by the Board; 

 
b. for transactions involving the provision of services by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that 

causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
pricing policies of the Group; 

 
c. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered 

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; 
and 

 
d. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 

transactions have exceeded the annual cap set by the Company. 
 
Disposal of Shares by a Controlling Shareholder 
On 24 January 2024, Mr. Fong, a controlling shareholder and the non-executive director of the Company and 
Mansion Green entered into a share transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement ” ) with an 
independent third party, Huiyu Investment, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang. Pursuant to the Share 
Transfer Agreement, Mr. Fong and Mansion Green conditionally agreed to sell, and Huiyu Investment 
conditionally agreed to purchase, 60,000,000 shares of the Company, representing 15.00% of the total issued 
share capital of the Company as at the date of the Share Transfer Agreement, at a cash consideration of 
HK$4,998,000 (being HK$0.0833 per Share) (the “Disposal”). The Share Transfer Agreement is conditional 
upon, among others, completion of the Share Swap (as defined below). To facilitate the Disposal, Aspiring 
Vision, Stand Smooth and Mansion Green entered into a share swap agreement on 24 January 2024, pursuant 
to which Aspiring Vision conditionally agreed to transfer its 30% shareholding interests in Mansion Green to 
Stand Smooth in exchange for Mansion Green transferring to Aspiring Vision 64,800,000 Shares, representing 
16.20% of the total issued share capital of the Company (the “Share Swap”). On 24 January 2024, Mr. Fong, 
Ms. Tse and Mr. Huang entered into a deed of concert parties (the “Deed”) to formalize their relationship as 
parties acting in concert in respect of the Company, and Mr. Fong Ming will continue to be the leader of the 
concert group with Mr. Huang added as a new member. The Deed takes effect upon completion of the Share 
Swap and the Disposal. Further details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 January 
2024. 
 
The completion of the Share Swap and the Disposal (the “Completion”) has been taken place on 20 March 
2024. Upon Completion, the Company is directly held as to 24.30% by Mansion Green, as to 16.20% by Aspiring 
Vision, as to 15.00% by Huiyu Investment and as to 0.99% by Mr. Huang and/or Mr. Huang’s spouse.  
 
Sufficiency of Public Float 
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors 
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float required by the 
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report. 
 
Directors’ Interest in Competing Business 
Save and except as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company date 31 October 2017, the Directors are not 
aware of any business or interest of the Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of 
their respective close associates that competes or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s 
business and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group during the 
year ended 31 December 2024. 
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Deed of non-competition 
The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Fong, Ms. Tse, Mr. Huang, Mansion Green, Hero 
Dragon, Fineland Group Holdings, Widethrive Investment, Stand Smooth, Aspiring Vision and Huiyu 
Investment (each the “Obligor” and collectively the “Obligors”) the deed of non-competition dated 23 
October 2017 (the “Deed of Non-competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, each of the 
Obligors has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to our Company (for ourselves and as trustee for 
our subsidiaries) that, save and except as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2017, 
during the period that the Deed of Non-competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure 
that his/her/its close associates (other than any member of our Group) not to carry on or be engaged, 
concerned or interested, or otherwise be involved, directly or indirectly, in any business in competition with 
or likely to be in competition with the existing business activity of any member of our Group and any business 
of our Group may engage in from time to time within the PRC, Hong Kong and such other parts of the world 
where any member of our Group may operate from time to time, save for the holding of not more than 5% 
shareholding interests (individually or with his/her/its close associates) in any company listed on a recognized 
stock exchange and at any time the relevant listed company shall have at least one shareholder (individually 
or with his/her/its close associates, if applicable) whose shareholding interests in the relevant listed company 
is higher than that of the relevant Obligor (individually or with his/her/its close associates). 
 
Each of the Obligors further undertakes that if he/she/it or his/her/its close associates other than any member 
of our Group is offered or becomes aware of any business opportunity which may compete with the business 
of our Group, he/she/it shall procure that his/her/its close associates to promptly notify our Group in writing 
and our Group shall have a right of first refusal to take up such opportunity. Our Group shall, within 30 days 
after receipt of the written notice (or such longer period if our Group is required to complete any approval 
procedures as set out under the Listing Rules from time to time), notify the Obligor(s) whether our Group will 
exercise the right of first refusal. 
 
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company had reviewed the status of the compliance as well 
as confirmation by the controlling shareholders of the Company and, on the basis of such confirmation, are 
of the view that such controlling shareholders have complied with their non-competition undertakings under 
the Deed of Non-Competition and the non-competition undertakings have been enforced by the Company 
in accordance with its terms. 
 
Competition and Conflict of Interests 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 31 
October 2017, none of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective 
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has 
any other conflict of interests with the Group. 
 
Indemnity of Directors 
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, there were permitted indemnity 
provisions (within the meaning in Section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong)) provided for in the Articles of Association of the Company. 
 
The Company has maintained Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance starting from 1 December 2017, which 
provides appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its Directors and officers arising out of 
corporate activities.  
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Directors and Controlling Shareholders’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or 
Contracts of Significance 
Except for the continuing connected transactions disclosed above and in the consolidated financial statements, 
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was 
a party, and in which a Director, a controlling shareholder or an entity connected with him had a material 
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Management Contracts 
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year. 
 
Environmental Policies and Performance 
In light of the Group’s principal activities, the Directors consider that the Group’s business do not have any 
direct adverse impact on the environment. Nevertheless, the Group is committed to building a 
environmentally- friendly corporation that pays close attention to the conserving resources for its operation 
and raise environmental awareness within the Group. During the year, the key environmental impacts from 
the Group’s operations relate to office energy and paper consumption. The Group strives to min imize any 
possible impacts or harms to the environment by, among others, establishing environmental policies and 
various procedures to be adopted in its usual and ordinary course of business reducing unnecessary usage of 
paper, conserving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. Details on key 
environmental impacts will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued by 
the Company separately under the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under Appendix 
C2 of the Listing Rules.  
 
Compliance with Laws and Regulations 
As at the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on the operations of the Group. 
 
The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and the risk of non-
compliance with such requirements could lead to the termination of operating licences. The Group has been 
allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations and to maintain 
cordial working relationships with relevant authorities effectively through effective communications. 
 
The Group also complies with the requirements under the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the 
SFO for the disclosure of information and corporate governance. 
 
Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers 
The Group recognizes the accomplishment of the employees by providing comprehensive benefit package, 
career development opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs. Apart from basic 
remuneration, share options may be granted under the share option scheme to eligible employees by 
reference of the Group’s performance as well as individual’s contribution. The Group provides a healthy and 
safe workplace for all employees. No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found in the 
year under review.  
 
As at 31 December 2024, number of the employees was 1,632 (as at 31 December 2023, 1,736), the decrease 
was mainly due to decrease in real estate agency services segment and front-line staff of property 
management projects.  
 
The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to meet our customers’ needs in an effective 
and efficient manner. The departments work closely to make sure the tendering and procurement process is 
conducted in an open, fair and just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also well-
communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a project. 
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The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through various means and channels, including 
usage of business intelligence to understand customer trends and needs and regularly analyses and makes 
changes based on customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests and checks to ensure 
that only quality products and services are offered to the customers. 
 
Five Years Summary 
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 132 of the annual report. 
 
Corporate Governance 
Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out on pages 19 to 31 of this 
annual report. 
 
Confirmation of Independence 
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and, based on contents of such confirmation, considers all the 
independent non-executive Directors to be independent and that they have met the specific independence 
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules. 
 
Review by Audit Committee 
The audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by 
the audit committee. The audit committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 comply with applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules 
and that adequate disclosures have been made. 
 
Tax Relief and Exemption 
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the shareholders by reason of their 
holding of the Company’s shares. 
 
Auditor 
The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2024 was audited by KTC Partners 
CPA Limited (“KTC”), who is proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company. 
 
BDO Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 28 October 2024. The Board and 
the audit committee have confirmed that there is no disagreement between the Company and BDO, and 
there is no other matter in connection with the change of auditors that needs to be brought to the attention 
of the Shareholders. KTC has been appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following 
the resignation of BDO Limited with effect from 28 October 2024. For detailed information, please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated 28 October 2024. 
 
Save as disclosed herein, there has been no other change in auditors of the Group in the preceding three 
years. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
Share Transfer Agreement 
On 26 February 2025, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with Hengyuang Taiye (Huizhou) 
Real estate Co., Ltd.* (恒源泰业(惠州)置业有限公司), a limited company established under the laws of PRC, 
ultimately owned by independent third parties, to dispose of 51% of the equity interest in Huizhou Fangxian 
Jiahe Property Service Co., Ltd.* (惠州方現嘉合物業服務有限公司) (“Fangxian Jiahe”) at a cash consideration 
of RMB255,000. The cash consideration was settled on 13 March 2025. The disposal is expected to be 
completed by 30 June 2025. Upon completion, the Company will no longer hold any interest in Fangxian Jiahe 
and Fangxian Jiahe will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company. 
 



FINELAND LIVING SERVICES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

47

Performance of Profit Guarantee 
On 25 October 2021, the Group, as purchaser (the “Purchaser”), entered into a share purchase agreement 
(the “Share Purchase Agreement”) with Shanghai Lvbaoyuan Business Management Partnership (Limited 
Partnership)* (上海綠保源企業管理合夥企業 (有限合夥)) as vendor (the “Vendor ” ) in relation to the 
acquisition of 60% of the equity interests in Guangdong Yikang Property Service Co., Ltd.* (廣東益康物業服務
有限公司) (“Yikang”) at a cash consideration (the “Consideration”) payable by instalments (the “Yikang 
Acquisition”), which is subject to adjustments based on the achievement of net profit targets (after deducting 
non-recurring profit and loss combined tax) of Yikang for each of the three years ended 31 December 2023 
could be met respectively.  
 
On 26 March 2025, the Vendor and the Purchaser have reached a consensus on the auditing results of Yikang 
and the 2023 Actual Profit (after deducting non-recurring profit and loss combined tax) amounted to 
approximately RMB5.85 million, which was less than the 2023 Guaranteed Profit, with a shortfall of 
approximately RMB0.30 million. Accordingly, the fifth payment instalment of the Consideration will be 
adjusted in accordance with the formula as set out in the Share Purchase Agreement and the deduction 
amount will be approximately RMB2.23 million. The fifth payment instalment of the Consideration payable by 
the Purchaser to the Vendor after adjustment will therefore be approximately RMB4.65 million. Since the total 
actual Net Profit of Yikang for three years ended 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 
2023 falls short of the sum of the guaranteed profit for the same period, the Performance Commitment 
Percentage is less than 100%. Therefore, no previously deducted amount shall be payable by the Purchaser to 
the Vendor as part of the fifth payment instalment of the Consideration.  
 
On the same day, the Purchaser and the Vendor have mutually agreed to offset the remaining balance payable 
by the Vendor in relation to the third and fourth payment instalments of the Consideration of approximately 
RMB4.67 million with the fifth payment instalment of the Consideration, and as a result, the total balance 
owed by the Vendor to the Purchaser is approximately RMB22,000 (the “Outstanding Balance”). Considering 
that (i) the Outstanding Balance is minimal and does not materially affect the overall transaction; and (ii) the 
significance of maintaining a strong business relationship with the Vendor, the Purchaser has decided to waive 
the Vendor’s obligation to pay the Outstanding Balance. The ultimate beneficial owners of the Vendor have 
confirmed that they will not engage in any attempt to seize or compete for any existing projects of Yikang 
and will not undermine the business relationships between Yikang and its customers, suppliers, employees or 
any other relevant third parties, and in the event that they fail to adhere to this commitment, they will 
compensate the Purchaser for any losses incurred as a result of the anticipated benefits. The Board is of the 
view that such settlement arrangement is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a 
whole and that the Vendor has fulfilled all of its profit guarantee obligations under the Share Purchase 
Agreement. Please refer to the announcement of the Company in relation to the profit guarantee arrangement 
for Yikang Acquisition dated 26 March 2025 for further information. 
 
By order of the board 
Fong Ming 
Chairman 
 
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FINELAND LIVING SERVICES GROUP LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fineland Living Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to 131, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information. 

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss 
of approximately RMB79,325,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current 
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB28,015,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set 
forth in Note 3(d), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section 
of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 

report. 
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Estimated provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature 
We identified the estimated provision of ECL of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies, related companies and non-controlling interests as a key audit matter due to the significant management 
judgement and estimates involved in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests as set out in Note 5(i). 

Loss allowances for trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and 
non-controlling interests are based on management’s estimate of the lifetime ECLs to be incurred, which is estimated by 
taking into account the credit loss experience, aging of overdue accounts receivable, customers’ repayment history and 
customers’ credit rating, financial position and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic 
conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of management judgement. 
 
Independent professional valuer is engaged to assist the management’s assessment of ECL allowance for trade receivables, 
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests. 
 
As disclosed in Notes 18 and 20, the carrying amounts of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies, related companies and non-controlling interests are RMB83,956,000, RMB16,907,000, RMB21,439,000 and 

RMB1,440,000 respectively as at 31 December 2024, after net off the provision of ECL of trade receivables, amounts due 
from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests of RMB82,268,000, 

RMB80,820,000, RMB42,363,000 and RMB160,000 respectively as at 31 December 2024. 
 

Our response: 
Our procedures in relation to the estimated provision of ECL of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 

subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests included: 
 

- Obtaining an understanding of the management process and the key controls in ECL assessment and assumptions 
made in determining the default rates for ECL assessment of the debtors using provision matrix and evaluating the 

reasonableness of principal quantitative, qualitative and forward-looking information adopted by the management; 
 

- Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of aging of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature based on invoice date and 
due date as at the end of the reporting period to the underlying invoices; 
 

- Testing the information used by the management to develop the provision matrix, on a sample basis, to the source 
documents; 
 

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the expected loss rates applied by reference to the historical default rates; 
 

- Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the independent professional valuer of the Group and 
obtaining an understanding of the work of the management’s expert; 
 

- Involving our independent external valuation experts to evaluate the management’s judgement in assessing the key 
assumptions and methodology in deriving the ECL estimation; 
 

- Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECL calculations; 
 

- Evaluating the reasonableness of forward-looking information used by the management by reference to available 

market information; and 
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Estimated provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature 
(Continued) 
Our response: (Continued) 
- Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of ECL of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 

subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests to assess the effectiveness of 
management’s estimation process. 

 
Impairment assessment of goodwill 
We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter due to significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant degree of estimations made by the 
management of the Group associated with the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which goodwill have 
been allocated. 
 
As disclosed in Note 5(ii), the management assessed the impairment of goodwill by estimation of the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated which is the higher 
of the value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less costs of disposal. The VIU calculation requires the Group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and a suitable 
discount rate. Key estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow projections for the period covered by the approved 
financial budgets include the growth rates in revenue, estimated gross profit, estimated profit before tax and pre-tax 
discount rates. As disclosed in Note 27, the gross carrying amounts of goodwill were RMB47,646,000 as at 31 December 
2024 and impairment loss of RMB7,818,000 was recognized during the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
Our response: 
Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill included: 
 
- Discussing with the management to understand the management process and the key controls in impairment 

assessment of goodwill and the key estimations made by the management in the impairment assessment of goodwill 
including the growth rates in revenue, estimated gross profit, estimated profit before tax and pre-tax discount rates; 
 

- Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the independent professional valuer engaged by 
management and obtaining an understanding of the work of the management’s expert; 
 

- Involving independent external valuation specialists to evaluate the methodologies and discount rates used by the 
Group for determining the recoverable amounts; 
 

- Evaluating the reasonableness of the growth rates in revenue, estimated gross profit and estimated profit before tax, 
with reference to the current financial position and historical financial performance; 
 

- Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate and comparing to discount rate adopted in the same 
industry for reasonableness; 
 

- Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial budgets approved by the management by comparing the actual 
results of those cash-generating units to the previously forecasted results used in the impairment assessment of 
goodwill; 
 

- Evaluating the reasonableness of the sensitivity analysis performed by management on the key assumptions to 
understand the impact of reasonable changes in assumptions on the recoverable amount; and 
 

- Checking the mathematical accuracy of the VIU calculations.  
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Other Matter 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor 
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30 April 2024. 
 
Other Information in the Annual Report 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

 
The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the 

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 
 
• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors. 
 
• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
• plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for the purpose of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
KTC Partners CPA Limited 
Certified Public Accountants  
Wong Kin Shing 
Practising Certificate no.: P07435 
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025 
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  2024 2023 

 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 
Revenue 7  369,101  426,784 

Cost of services   (309,835) (339,750) 

Gross profit  59,266 87,034 

Other income, losses and gains, net 8 (1,828) 7,422 

Selling and marketing expenses  (168) (933) 

Administrative expenses  (47,538) (58,474) 

Impairment losses on financial assets, net  (90,062) (101,062) 

Impairment losses on goodwill 27 (7,818) - 

Finance costs  (1,184) (1,473) 

Loss before income tax 9 (89,332) (67,486) 

Income tax 12(a) 10,007  10,374 

Loss for the year  (79,325) (57,112) 

    

Other comprehensive expense 
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to    profit or loss: 

 
 

 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (1,779) (471) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year  (81,104) (57,583) 

(Loss)/profit attributable to:    

Owners of the Company  (76,931) (60,609) 

Non-controlling interests   (2,394) 3,497 

  (79,325) (57,112) 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable to:    

Owners of the Company  (78,710)  (61,080) 

Non-controlling interests   (2,394) 3,497 

  (81,104) (57,583) 

    

    

  RMB cents RMB cents 
Loss per share    
- Basic and diluted 14 (19.23) (15.15) 
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  2024 2023 

 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 15 11,324 13,083 

Investment properties  16 14,216 - 

Right-of-use assets 17(a) 912 1,138 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 5,407 3,950 

Goodwill 27 39,828 47,646 

Other intangible assets 28 17,793 23,336 

Deposit for acquisition of properties 29 3,977 3,888 

Deferred tax assets 12(c) 28,107 17,802 

Total non-current assets  121,564 110,843 

Current assets    

Trade receivables 18 83,956 103,948 

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 53,870 63,641 

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies 20 16,907 62,477 

Amounts due from related companies 20 21,439 40,678 

Amounts due from non-controlling interests 20 1,440 1,544 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 1,016 4,382 

Restricted bank balances 22 1,785 2,644 

Bank balances and cash  22 64,765 88,134 

Total current assets  245,178 367,448 

Current liabilities    

Trade payables 23(a) 74,466 71,356 

Contract liabilities 24 52,978 50,862 

Accruals and other payables 23(b) 131,321 139,508 

Lease liabilities 17(b) 298 321 

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/related companies 20 2,260 1,940 

Amounts due to related companies 20 21 - 

Amounts due to non-controlling interests 20 159 259 

Bank borrowings 30 - 19,366 

Tax payable  11,690 12,511 

Total current liabilities  273,193 296,123 

Net current (liabilities)/assets  (28,015) 71,325 

Total assets less current liabilities  93,549 182,168 
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  2024  2023 

 Notes RMB’000  RMB’000 
Non-current liabilities     

Lease liabilities 17(b) 696  880 

Deferred tax liabilities 12(c) 7,129  8,362 

Total non-current liabilities  7,825  9,242 

Net assets  85,724  172,926 

Capital and reserves     

Share capital 25 3,403  3,403 

Reserves 26 30,652  109,362 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  34,055  112,765 

Non-controlling interests 38 51,669  60,161 

Total equity  85,724  172,926 

     

     

     

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025. 

 
   

Fong Ming 
Executive Director 

 

 Sun Ligong  
Executive Director 
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Share 
capital 

RMB’000 

Share 
premium 
RMB’000 

Capital 
reserve 

RMB’000 

Statutory 
reserve 

RMB’000 

Exchange 
reserve 

RMB’000 

Retained 
profits 

RMB’000 

Equity 
attributable 
to owners 

of the 
Company 
RMB’000 

 
 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 
RMB’000 

Total 
equity 

RMB’000 

1 January 2023 3,403 51,677 6,118  13,946 (3,931) 102,029 173,242 64,265 237,507 

Loss for the year - - - - - (60,609) (60,609) 3,497 (57,112) 

Other comprehensive income          

Exchange differences on translation of the 
foreign operations - - - - (471) - (471) - (471) 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (471) (60,609) (61,080) 3,497 (57,583) 

Capital contribution from the non-

controlling interests - - - - - - - 890 890 

Acquisition of additional interests in a 

subsidiary (Note 37) - - 603 - - - 603 (1,648) (1,045) 

Profit appropriations to statutory reserve - - - 761 - (761) - - - 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (6,843) (6,843) 

As at 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024 3,403 51,677 6,721 14,707 (4,402) 40,659 112,765 60,161 172,926 

Loss for the year - - - - - (76,931) (76,931) (2,394) (79,325) 

Other comprehensive income          

Exchange differences on translation of 
the foreign operations - - - - (1,779) - (1,779) - (1,779) 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (1,779) (76,931) (78,710) (2,394) (81,104) 

Capital contribution from the non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - 147 147 

Profit appropriations to statutory reserve - - - 1,703 - (1,703) - - - 

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - (6,245) (6,245) 

As at 31 December 2024 3,403 51,677 6,721 16,410 (6,181) (37,975) 34,055 51,669 85,724 
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  2024 2023 

 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    

Loss before income tax  (89,332) (67,486) 

Adjustments for:    

Interest income  (161) (272) 

Fair value gain on contingent consideration payable  - (5,006) 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  4,063 3,358 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  320 217 

Amortization of other intangible assets  5,543 5,542 

Finance costs  1,184 1,473 

Impairment losses on financial assets, net  90,062 101,062 

Impairment losses on goodwill  7,818  

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (5) (34) 

Loss on disposal of investment property  55 - 

Exchange differences  (1,759) (613) 

Gain on lease reassessment  - (13) 

Gain on loan modification  - (668) 

Fair value loss on investment properties  944 - 

Loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable  3,855 - 

Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 

 (591) 1,018 

Operating profit before working capital changes  21,996 38,578 

Increase in trade receivables  (24,259) (21,176) 

Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and other receivables  7,650 (4,148) 

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 

companies 

 8,434 (3,693) 

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related companies  (2,615) 2,848 

Decrease in amounts due from non-controlling interests  60 9,068 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  3,110 (2,291) 

Increase in contract liabilities  2,116 3,550 

Decrease in accruals and other payables  (2,299) (7,792) 

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies 

 320 (3,825) 

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related companies  21 (19) 

Decrease in amounts due to non-controlling interests  (100) (2,454) 

Cash generated from operations  14,434 8,646 

Income tax paid  (2,459) (3,826) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  11,975 4,820 
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  2024 2023 

 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 
Cash flows from investing activities  
Interest income received  161 272

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (2,200) (4,732)
Purchases of investment property   (361) -

Deposit paid for acquisition of properties 29 - (3,988)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  288 56
Proceeds from disposal of investment property  46 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (1,424) (1,264)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 35(c) (6,186) -
Placement of restricted bank balances  859 (1,491)

Net cash used in investing activities  (8,817) (11,147)

Cash flows from financing activities 35(b) 
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests  147 890
Interest paid  (563) (1,329)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (5,803) (5,844)

Payment of principal portion of lease payments  (301) (197)
Payment of interest portion of lease payments  (57) (40)

Proceeds from bank borrowings  - 4,270
Repayment of bank borrowings  (19,930) (20,070)
Acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary 38 - (1,045)

Net cash used in financing activities  (26,507) (23,365)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (23,349) (29,692)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (20) 142
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  88,134 117,684

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  64,765 88,134

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents  
Bank balances and cash  64,765 88,134
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
Fineland Living Services Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman 
Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, 

Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is located at Unit B, 17/F., United Centre, 
95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
 
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are provision of 
professional property management services and value-added services for residential and non-residential properties 
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). 
 
As at the beginning of the reporting period, the immediate holding company and ultimate holding company of the 
Company were Mansion Green Holdings Limited (“Mansion Green”) and Widethrive Investments Limited 
(“Widethrive Investments”), respectively, companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with limited 
liability and Mr. Fong Ming and Ms. Tse Lai Wai were parties act in concert in respect of the Company.  
 
On 24 January 2024, Mr. Fong Ming, a controlling shareholder of the Company and the non-executive director, and 
Mansion Green entered into a share transfer agreement with an independent third party, Huiyu Investment Holdings 
Limited (“Huiyu Investments”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Peng. Pursuant to the share transfer 
agreement, Mr. Fong Ming and Mansion Green conditionally agreed to sell, and Huiyu Investment conditionally 
agreed to purchase, 60,000,000 shares of the Company, representing 15.00% of the total issued share capital of the 
Company, at a cash consideration of HK$4,998,000 (being HK$0.0833 per Share) (the “Disposal”). The share transfer 
agreement is conditional upon, among others, completion of the Share Swap (as defined below). 

 
To facilitate the Disposal, Aspiring Vision Holdings Limited (“Aspiring Vision”), Stand Smooth Group Limited (“Stand 
Smooth”) and Mansion Green entered into a share swap agreement on 24 January 2024, pursuant to which Aspiring 
Vision conditionally agreed to transfer its 30% shareholding interests in Mansion Green to Stand Smooth in exchange 

for Mansion Green transferring to Aspiring Vision 64,800,000 shares, representing 16.20% of the total issued share 
capital of the Company (the “Share Swap”). 

 
On 24 January 2024, Mr. Fong Ming, Ms. Tse Lai Wa and Mr. Huang Peng entered into a deed of concert parties to 

formalize their relationship as parties acting in concert in respect of the Company, and Mr. Fong Ming continue to 
be the leader of the concert group with Mr. Huang Peng added as a new member. 

 
The completion of the Share Swap and the Disposal (the “Completion”) has been taken place on 20 March 2024. 

Upon Completion, the Company is directly held as to 24.30% by Mansion Green, as to 16.20% by Aspiring Vision, as 
to 15.00% by Huiyu Investment and as to 0.99% by Mr. Huang Peng and/or Mr. Huang Peng’s spouse. 
 

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) 
(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective on 1 January 2024 

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to and effective for the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the current accounting period: 
 
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements 
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued) 
(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective on 1 January 2024 (Continued) 

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s 

financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective 

The following new and amendments to HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes 

on the date they become effective.

 Effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after  

Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025 

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 - Amendments to the 
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 

1 January 2026 

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards -  
Volume 11 

1 January 2026 

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027 

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 -  
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and  
its Associate or Joint Venture 

To be determined by the HKICPA 

 
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these new and amendments to 
HKFRSs is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that, except for the new 
HKFRS mentioned below, the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation 
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new 
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new 
requirements to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide 

disclosures on management-defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and 
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, 

some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement 
of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made. 

 
HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2027, with early application permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the 
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is 

in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong 

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) 
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (the “HKCO”). In addition, the 
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). 

(b) Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties which have been measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of 
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC. The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong 
dollars (“HK$”). All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“RMB’000”) except when otherwise indicated. 

(d) Going concern basis 
The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB79,325,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as 
at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately 
RMB28,015,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant 
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The directors of the Company have taken the following measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to 
improve the financial position of the Group: 
 
(i) the shareholders of the Group have confirmed that they will provide continuing financial support to the 

Group to enable it to continue as a going concern and to settle its liabilities as and when they fall due in 
the foreseeable future; 

 
(ii) the Group is taking active steps to negotiate the repayment of its liabilities. Subsequent to 31 December 

2024, certain suppliers of the Group have agreed not to demand for repayment for the amounts due to 
them before 31 May 2026; 

 
(iii) implementing comprehensive policies to monitor cash flows through cutting costs and capital 

expenditure; and 
 

(iv) the directors of the Company anticipate that the Group will generate positive cash flows from its 
operations in the foreseeable future. 

 
Provided that these measures can be successfully implemented by the Group to improve the liquidity of the 

Group, the directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations 
as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the eventual outcome of these measures cannot be 
estimated with reasonable certainty. Hence there exists a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and that the Group may be unable to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 
(d) Going concern basis 

Should the ‘Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write 

down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and 
to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these 
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

 
The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with unrealized profits are 
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the reporting period are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up to the dates 
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group. 
 
Business combination 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities 

and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group. In determining whether 
a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities 

acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive processes and whether the acquired set has the 
ability to produce outputs. 

 
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, 

liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held 

equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses 
are recognized in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by- transaction basis, to measure the 
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at 
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are 

measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs 
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are 

deducted from equity. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at acquisition-date fair value. 
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognized against goodwill only to the extent that they arise 
from new information obtained with the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition 
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or a liability are recognized in profit or loss. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued) 

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 

interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non- controlling 
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
 
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, 
separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of 
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non- 
controlling interests and the owners of the Company. 
 
Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non- controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between 
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. 
 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest; and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation 
to that subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities 

were disposed of. 
 

(b) Subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an 

investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights to, 
variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is 

reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of 
control. 

 
In the Company’s statement of financial position (Note 39), interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend 
received and receivable. 

 
(c) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their 
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual value, using the straight-line 
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of the 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal 
annual rates are as follows:
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

Buildings 20 years or the remaining lease period of the land use rights, 

whichever is the shorter 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% 
Motor vehicles 25% 
Computer equipment and software 10% to 33 1/3% 
Leasehold improvements 
 

Annual rates as determined by shorter of expected useful lives of 5 
years and the unexpired period of the leases 

 
An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s 
estimated recoverable amount. 
 
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale 
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognized in profit or loss on disposal. 
 

(d) Investment properties 
Investment properties are buildings which are held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation.  
 
Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the course of construction or development 
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time. 
 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are recognized in profit or loss 
for the period in which they arise. 
 
An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property is withdrawn from 

use. Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the difference between the net sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the property, and is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
(e) Leases 

As a lessee 
All leases are required to be capitalized in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalize (i) leases 
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has 

elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at 
the commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated with those 
leases have been expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

Right-of-use asset 
The right-of-use asset is initially recognized at cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial 

measurement of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial 
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and 
removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those 
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. 
Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability. The right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(e) Leases (Continued) 

Lease liability  
The lease liability is recognized at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of 
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if 
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. 

 
The following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using 
the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual 
value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 
option; and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising 
an option to terminate the lease. 

 
Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying 
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect 
revised in-substance fixed lease payments. 

 
When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the 
probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the 

lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised 
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease 
payments dependent on a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged. In both cases, 
an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying 

amount being amortized over the remaining (revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in 

one or more additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the standalone price for the 
additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases, 

where the renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the lease term, or 
one or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable 

on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount. With the exception 
to which the practical expedient for COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions applies, if the renegotiation results 
in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset 
are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with any difference 

recognized in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the 
amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments 

discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same 
amount. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in 

a business combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

 
The useful lives and amortization method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the reporting 
period. amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows: 

Customer relationship 4 to 8 years 
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognized in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognized. 

 
(g) Financial instruments 

(i) Financial assets 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the market place. 

 
Debt instruments 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt instruments as at 

amortized cost: 
 
Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Financial assets at 

amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain on 

derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Equity investment 
The Group classifies its equity investment which is not held for trading as at FVTPL whereby changes in 
fair value and dividend income are recognized in profit or loss. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(g) Financial instruments (Continued) 

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets 
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables and financial 
assets measured at amortized cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: 

 
(1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months 

after the reporting date; and 
 
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference 
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the 
assets’ original effective interest rate.  
 
The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables, amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in 
nature using HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on 
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 

environment. 
 
For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs. 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that 
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 

information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information. 

 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 

days past due. 
 
Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the 
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets 

interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount. 
 

Definition of default 
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)    

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued) 
• when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or 
 
• information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals 
held by the Group). 

 
Write-off 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 

(iii) Financial liabilities   
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortized cost 
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated 

upon initial recognition as at FVTPL. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless 

they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 

designated as a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative does not significantly 
modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited. 

 
Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria are met: 

(i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the 
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance evaluated 
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial 

liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded. 
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in 
fair value recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the gains and losses 
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive income with no 
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognized in profit or loss 
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)    

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued) 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost including trade payables, accruals and other payables, bank 
borrowings and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-
controlling interests are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. 
The related interest expense is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through 
the amortization process. 
 

(iv) Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the 
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. 
 

(v) Equity instruments 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 
 

(vi) Derecognition  
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation 
to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the 
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

 
Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or 

in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the 
consideration paid and are recognized initially and measured at their fair value on the date the financial 

liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably 
measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability 

extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof 
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss for the year. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(h) Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding goodwill) 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 

equipment, right-of-use assets, interests in subsidiaries and other intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously 
recognized no longer exists or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset 
(or CGU) in prior years. 
 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks, and other short- term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
(j) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made. 

 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 

or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

 
(k) Taxation 

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years respectively and it further excludes items that 

are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(k) Taxation (Continued) 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for 
goodwill and recognized assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax 
liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability is realized or settled and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on interests in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
(l) Translation of foreign currencies 

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the 
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end 

of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, 

are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
 

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions 
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end 

of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 

Exchange differences recognized in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the 
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation 
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve. 
 

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognized in the exchange reserve 
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss 

on disposal. 
 
Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in the exchange reserve. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(m) Employee benefits  

(i) Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected 
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Short-term employee benefits are recognized in the period when 
the employees rendered the related service. 
 

(ii) Retirement benefits scheme 
The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement scheme are recognized as an expense 
in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees. 

 
(iii) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognized on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer 
of those benefits and when the Group recognizes restructuring costs involving the payment of termination 
benefits. 
 

(n) Government grants 
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. 
 
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in 

profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
 
(o) Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of goods or services is transferred to the 

customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes 

value added tax. 
 

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the services may 
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over time if: 

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s performance 

as the entity performs; 
 
• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; 

or 

 
• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and Group has 

an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 
If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the contract by reference 
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is 
recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the services. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(o) Revenue recognition (Continued) 

Revenue from real estate agency services is recognized at a point in time when the service is rendered and the 

property buyer has executed the sale and purchase agreement and made the required payments according 
to the terms and conditions stated in different agency contracts, since only by that time the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment from the property developers for the services performed. The Group’s 
commission rate receivable is variable based on a pre-agreed sales target. Before the Group met the agreed 
sales target, the Group will recognize revenue based on a lower commission rate. Until when the sales target 
is met, the Group will recognize the incremental revenue, representing the variable considerations, at the 
higher commission rate on the performance obligations satisfied in previous periods. Performance bonus for 
reaching sales target pre-agreed with certain property developers is only recognized to the extent that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue recognized will not occur. 
 
For property management services income from properties managed under lump sum basis, where the Group 
acts as principal and is primarily responsible for providing the property management services to the property 
owners, the Group recognizes the fee received or receivable from property owners as its revenue in the amount 
to which the Group has a right to bill and that corresponds directly with the services rendered, and all related 
property management costs as its cost of services. Revenue from property management services is recognized 
over time in the accounting period in which services are rendered. 
 
Revenue from value-added services to non-property owners is recognized over time. The Group issues the 
monthly bill to the customers based on actual level of services provided at a pre-determined price when such 
services are rendered in that month. 

 
Revenue from community value-added services is recognized when the related services are rendered. Payment 
of the transaction is due immediately when the community value-added services are rendered to the 
customers. 

 
Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

Contract assets and liabilities 
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s 

unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due. 

 
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 
(o) Revenue recognition (Continued) 

Principal versus agent 
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether 
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the 
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group 
is an agent). 
 
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods or service before that goods or service is transferred 
to a customer. 
 
The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or 
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified goods or service provided by 
another party before that goods or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it 
recognizes revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for 
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party. 
 

(p) Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date. 
 
Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration 

paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognized in profit or loss on the 
acquisition date, after re-assessment. 
 

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising 
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that 
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing 
its carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be 

impaired. 

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is first allocated to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-

rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not 
reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or its 

value-in-use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized in profit 
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods. 
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgement, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
The judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies, and estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below. 

 
(i) Impairment of trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related 

parties and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature 
The Group makes allowance for impairment on trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies, related parties and non-controlling interests based on assessments of risk of default and ECL rates, 
details of which are set out in Note 33(a). The Group uses judgement in making these assessments and selecting 
the inputs in the estimation, based on the credit loss experience, aging of overdue accounts receivable, 
customers’ repayment history and customers’ credit rating, financial position and an assessment of both the 
current and forecast general economic conditions. 
 

(ii) Impairment of goodwill 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash- 
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher 
of the value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to 

estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating 
units) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Key estimates involved in the 

preparation of cash flow projections for the period covered by the approved financial budgets include the 
growth rates in revenue, estimated gross profit, estimated profit before tax and pre- tax discount rates. Where 

the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in 
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of pre-tax discount rates, a material impairment 

loss or further impairment loss may arise. 

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is RMB39,828,000 (2023: RMB47,646,000), after net 
off the impairment loss of goodwill of RMB7,818,000 (2023: RMBNil). Details of the recoverable amount 
calculation are disclosed in Note 27. 

 

(iii) Revenue recognition of real estate agency services income 
Management estimates the total consideration of real estate agency services income, including an estimate of 

variable consideration, received in exchange for the services rendered, accounting policy of which are set out 
in Note 4(o). The variable consideration is the amount for which it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the cumulative amount of revenue recognized will not occur in future period when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Continued) 
(iv) Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax liabilities have been accrued at a tax rate of 10% on the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries of 
the Company in the PRC after taking into consideration of the historical dividend records of the relevant 
subsidiaries of the Company, details of which are set out in Note 12(c). 
 
The dividend policy of the relevant subsidiaries is subject to the financial and market conditions, the availability 
of funding and reserves available for distribution of the relevant subsidiaries. If the dividend policy of the 
relevant subsidiaries of the Company is changed, the deferred tax in relation to withholding tax of undistributed 
earnings would be changed accordingly. 
 

(v) Estimated useful lives of intangible assets with finite useful lives 
Management determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets with finite useful lives for 
the calculation of amortization of intangible assets. This estimate is determined after considering the expected 
period in which economic benefits can be generated from the intangible assets. Management reviews the 
estimated useful lives on an annual basis and future amortization charges are adjusted where management 
believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates. 
 

(vi) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) 
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the 
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment 
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the 

carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available 
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets, observable market prices, 
transaction prices of similar assets in less active markets with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 

conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices, or other valuation techniques, as 
appropriate, less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, 

management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

 
(vii) Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

When the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and contingent consideration 
receivable and payable recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived from 

active markets, their fair values are determined using valuation techniques including the use of comparable 
recent arm’s length transactions and other valuation techniques commonly used by other market participants. 
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements and estimates include 

considerations of inputs such as volatility, risk-free rate, earning multiples and discount rate. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING 
The Group has determined its operating segments and prepared segmental information based on regular internal 
financial information that is used to report the operating results of business units to the chief operating decision 

makers (“CODM”), i.e. the executive directors of the Company, who are responsible for making strategic decisions. 
The CODM review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess the performance and allocate the resources and 
the Group has determined the operating segments based on these reports. The Group’s reportable and operating 
segments are as follows: 
 
(i) provision of comprehensive real estate agency services; and 

 
(ii) provision of professional property management services. 

 
Reportable segments 
The CODM monitor the results of its service lines separately for the purpose of making decision about resources 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on the results from the reportable 
segments as explained in the table below. 
 
 Year ended 31 December 2024 

 Real estate 
agency 

services 

Property 
management 

services Total 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Segment revenue    

External sales  6,753 362,348 369,101 

Segment (loss)/profit (46,015) 6,095 (39,920) 

Reconciliation:    
Loss on derecognition of contingent consideration 

receivable   (3,855) 

Unallocated corporate expenses   (45,557) 

Loss before income tax   (89,332) 
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
Unallocated corporate expenses mainly comprise legal and professional fees and certain salaries and allowances. 

 
 Year ended 31 December 2024 

 Real estate 
agency  

services 

Property 
management 

services Total 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Other segment information    

- Amounts included in the measure of segment results:    

Capital expenditure - 2,200 2,200 

Impairment losses on financial assets, net 46,490 43,572 90,062 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 89 3,974 4,063 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets - 320 320 

Amortization of other intangible assets - 5,543 5,543 

Finance costs - 1,184 1,184 
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss - (591) (591) 
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties (79) 1,023 944 
Impairment loss of goodwill  - 7,818 7,818 

 
 Year ended 31 December 2023 

 
Real estate 

agency services 

Property 
management 

services Total 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Segment revenue    

External sales  29,364 397,420 426,784 

Segment (loss)/profit (48,237) 32,383 (15,854) 

Reconciliation:    

Fair value gain on contingent consideration payable   5,006 

Unallocated corporate expenses   (56,638) 

Loss before income tax   (67,486) 
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
Reportable segments (Continued) 
 
 Year ended 31 December 2023 

 Real estate 
agency  

services 

Property 
management 

services Total 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Other segment information    

- Amounts included in the measure of segment results:    

Capital expenditure 2 6,917 6,919 

Impairment losses on financial assets, net 48,410 52,652 101,062 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 190 3,168 3,358 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 56 161 217 

Amortization of other intangible assets - 5,542 5,542 

Finance costs 4 1,469 1,473 
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss - 1,018 1,018 

 
Segment assets and liabilities 
As the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reviewed by the CODM, the measure of total assets 
and liabilities for each operating segment is therefore not presented. 

 
Geographical information 
As the CODM consider the Group’s revenue and results are all derived from provision of services in the PRC and no 
significant consolidated assets of the Group are located outside the PRC except bank balances in Hong Kong, 
geographical segment information is not considered necessary. 
 
Information about major customers 
The revenue generated from each customer for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 did not 
individually exceed 10% of the Group’s total revenue of each of these years. 
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7. REVENUE 
Disaggregation of revenue by each significant category and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: 
 

Reportable segment/ 
Type of goods or services 

Revenue from customers 
And recognized 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Real estate agency services    
Real estate agency services income at a point in time 6,753 29,364 

Property management services    
Property management services income over time 303,733 324,118 
Value-added services to non-property owners over time 13,106 18,045 
Community value-added services over time   

- Other value-added services at a point in time 44,441 54,356 
- Sales of goods over time 1,068 901 

  362,348 397,420 

  369,101 426,784 

 
Unsatisfied performance obligations 
For property management services income, the Group recognizes revenue in the amount that equals to the right to 
invoice which corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance to date, on a monthly 
basis. The Group has elected the practical expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations for 
these types of contracts. The majority of the property management service contracts do not have a fixed term. The 
term of the contracts is generally set to expire when the counterparties notify the Group that the services are no 
longer required. 

Value-added services to non-property owners and community value-added services are rendered over a short 
period of time and there is no unsatisfied performance obligation at the end of respective periods.
 

8. OTHER INCOME, LOSSES AND GAINS, NET 
 

  2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Gain on lease reassessment  - 13 

Gain on loan modification (Note 30)  - 668 

Fair value loss on investment properties (944)  

Government grants (Note) 364 1,608 

Interest income 161 272 

Fair value gain on contingent consideration (Notes 21(c)) - 5,006 

Loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable (Notes 21(c)) (3,855) - 

Exchange gains, net 1,759  462 

Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(Note 21(a)) 591 (1,018) 

Others 96 411 

 (1,828) 7,422 

Note:  

The government grants mainly represent refunds of value-added tax and other taxes benefits from the PRC tax authorities. There 

were no unfulfilled conditions relating to the grants. 
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9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 
This is arrived at after charging/(crediting): 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Auditor’s remuneration   

- audit services 1,552 1,986 

- non-audit services - 429 

Amortization of other intangible assets (included in administrative expenses) 5,543 5,542 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,063 3,358 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 320 217 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5) (34) 

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 57 40 
Interest expenses on bank borrowings 1,127 1,433 

Employee benefit expenses (Note 10) 150,600 172,241 

Short-term lease expenses 4,043 7,982 

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) on financial assets, net, 

recognized on: 

  

- trade receivables 43,617 24,156 

- amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies * 22,605 56,492 

- amounts due from related companies 21,854 19,869 

- amount due from non-controlling interests 44 (384) 

- deposits for acquisition of properties (89) 100 

- other receivables 2,031 829 

 90,062 101,062 

 

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 33(a). 
 

* Fineland Group Holdings Company Limited (“Fineland Group Holdings”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Fineland Group”, 

excluding the Group), Fineland Group Holdings’ subsidiaries are the fellow subsidiaries of the Company up until 20 March 2024. 

Subsequent to 20 March 2024, Fineland Group, which is controlled by Widethrive Investments, was a related party of the Group, 

which is controlled by one of the controlling shareholders. 

 
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 

Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments (Note 11)) comprise: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 139,614 159,051 
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 10,986 13,190 

 150,600 172,241 
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (INCLUDING CHIEF EXECUTIVES) AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS 
(a) Directors’ emoluments (including Chief Executives)  
 

 

Directors’  
fees 

Salaries,  
allowances 
and other 

benefits 

 
 

Discretionary 
bonuses 

Contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
scheme Total 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

      

Year ended 31 December 2024      

      

Executive directors      

Mr. Han Shuguang - 1,247 100 87 1,434 

Ms. Tse Lai Wa  60 - - -  60 

      

Non-executive director      

Mr. Fong Ming  60 - - -  60 

      

Independent non-executive 
directors  

     

Mr. Leung Wai Hung 166 - - -  166 

Mr. Tian Qiusheng  131 - - -  131 

Mr. Du Chenhua  131 - - -  131 

  548  1,247  100  87  1,982 
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (INCLUDING CHIEF EXECUTIVES) AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS (Continued)  
(a) Directors’ emoluments (including Chief Executives) (Continued) 

 
 

Directors’ 
fees 

Salaries, 
allowances 
and other 

benefits 

 
 

Discretionary 
bonuses 

Contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
scheme Total 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

      

Year ended 31 December 2023      

      

Executive directors      

Mr. Han Shuguang - 1,117 170 91 1,378 

Ms. Rong Haiming* - 184 - 60 244 

Mr. Yi Ruofeng
#
 - 735 - 45 780 

Ms. Tse Lai Wa - 115 - - 115 

      

Non-executive director      

Mr. Fong Ming 115 - - - 115 

      

Independent non-executive 
directors       

Mr. Leung Wai Hung 193 - - - 193 

Dr. Liao Junping^ 169 - - - 169 

Mr. Tian Qiusheng 188 - - - 188 

Mr. Du Chenhua 188 - - - 188 

 853 2,151 170 196 3,370 

 
*   Ms. Rong resigned as a director of the Company on 28 September 2023. 

#  Mr. Yi resigned as a director of the Company on 30 November 2023. 

^  Dr. Liao resigned as a director of the Company on 16 November 2023. 

 
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group (2023: RMBNil). During the year, RMBNil (2023: RMB375,000) is paid to directors as 
compensation for non-renewal of employment agreement according to laws and regulations in the PRC. In 
addition, none of the directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: RMBNil). 

 
The discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the financial performance of the Group and the 
performance of the individual director for the year. 
 
The executive directors' emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive directors' emoluments shown 

above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors' emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company. 
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (INCLUDING CHIEF EXECUTIVES) AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS (Continued)  
(b) Five highest paid individuals 

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group included one director (2023: two directors) of 
the Company during the year, whose emoluments are included in the analysis presented in Note 11(a). The 
emoluments of the remaining four (2023: three) non-directors, highest paid individuals for the year, are as 
follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 3,103 1,467 
Discretionary bonuses 374 339 

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 163 57 

 3,640 1,863 

 
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the highest paid individuals above as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: RMBNil). 

 
The number of non-director, highest paid individuals whose emoluments fell within the following band: 

 

 2024 2023 

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately  
RMBNil to RMB924,000) 4 3 

 
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management were within the following band: 
 

 2024 2023 

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately  
RMBNil to RMB924,000) 4 3 

 
12. INCOME TAX 

(a) The amounts of income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income represent: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)   
- provision for the year 1,531 2,978 
- (Over)/under provision in respect of prior years - (648) 

 1,531 2,330 
   

Deferred tax (Note 12(c)) (11,538) (12,704) 

 (10,007) (10,374) 
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12. INCOME TAX (Continued)  
(a) The amounts of income tax in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represent: 

(Continued) 
Notes: 

(i) No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong 

for the current and prior years. 

 

(ii) Under the PRC EIT Law, the Group’s PRC entities are subject to income tax at a rate of 25%, except for certain 

subsidiaries which qualified as small enterprises and micro businesses and enjoy preferential income tax rate of 5% 

(2023: 5%) respectively for the year ended 31 December 2024. 

(b) Income tax for the year can be reconciled to loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Loss before income tax (89,332) (67,486) 

Taxation calculated at PRC EIT rate of 25% (2023: 25%) (22,333) (16,872) 
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries with low profits (6,016) (9,489) 
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions - 129 
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax purposes (2,093) (3,394) 

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 16,526 15,572 
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized 3,909 4,458 

Deferred tax on undistributed earnings of PRC subsidiaries - (130) 
Over provision of tax expense in prior year - (648) 

Income tax for the year (10,007) (10,374) 

 
(c) Deferred tax 

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the current and prior years are as follows: 
 
 

Tax losses 

Impairment 
of financial 

assets 

Fair value 
adjustments 

on acquisition 
of subsidiaries 

Undistributed 
earnings of a 
subsidiary in 

the PRC 

Fair value 
gain on 

financial 
assets at fair 

value 
through 

profit or loss 

Fair value 
gain on 

investment 
property at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss 

Fair value 
loss on 

investment 
property at 

fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss Total 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

         
As at 1 January 2023 (2,822) (3,791) 7,219 2,658 - - - 3,264 
Credited to profit or loss  

(Note 12(a)) (390) (10,799) (1,385) (130) - - - (12,704) 

As at 31 December 2023  

and 1 January 2024 (3,212) (14,590) 5,834 2,528 - - - (9,440) 
Credited to profit or loss 

(Note 12(a)) (880) (9,168) (1,386) - 133 20 (257) (11,538) 

As at 31 December 2024 (4,092) (23,758) 4,448 2,528 133 20 (257) (20,978) 
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12. INCOME TAX (Continued)  
(c) Deferred tax (Continued) 

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes: 

 
 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Deferred tax assets 28,107 17,802 
Deferred tax liabilities (7,129) (8,362) 

 20,978 9,440 

 

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from 
the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 

and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax 
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10% 

for the unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on 
dividends distributed by the subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 

2008. 
 
As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax liability was provided for the withholding tax that would be payable 
on certain unremitted earnings amounting to RMB266,345,000 (2023: RMB239,288,000). Such amount of 
unremitted earnings was expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not be remitted to a foreign 
investor in the foreseeable future based on management’s estimation of funding requirements. 

 
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately RMB16,245,000 (2023: 
RMB37,635,000) available for offset against future profits of certain subsidiaries. 

 
The unused tax losses will be available within five to ten years (2023: five to ten years) for offsetting against 
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 

 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have other material unrecognized deferred tax. 

 
13. DIVIDENDS 

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during the year (2023: Nil), nor has any dividend been proposed 
since the end of the current reporting period. 

 
14. LOSS PER SHARE 

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the following data: 
 

 2024 2023 

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of 

the Company (RMB’000) (76,931) (60,609) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
basic loss per share 400,000,000 400,000,000 

 
Diluted loss per share isthe same as basic loss per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. 
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
  

 
Buildings 

 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment 

 
Motor 

vehicles 

Computer 
equipment 

and software 

 
 

Total 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Cost       

As at 1 January 2023 2,891 4,221 1,288 250 7,358 16,008 

Additions 1,564 1,146 462 1,243 2,504 6,919 

Disposals - - - (15) (129) (144) 

As at 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024 4,455 5,367 1,750 1,478 9,733 22,783 

Additions 546 - 206 275 1,986 3,013 
Reclassification to investment 

properties (Note 16) (534) - - - - (534) 

Disposals - (163) (661) (114) (238) (1,176) 

As at 31 December 2024 4,467 5,204 1,295 1,639 11,481 24,086 

Accumulated depreciation       

As at 1 January 2023 (232) (1,236)) (768) (35) (4,191) (6,462) 

Depreciation for the year (193) (1,307) (243) (94) (1,521) (3,358) 

Eliminated on disposals - - - 1 119 120 

As at 31 December 2023 and       

1 January 2024 (425) (2,543) (1,011) (128) (5,593) (9,700) 

Depreciation for the year (191) (1,877) (312) (366) (1,317) (4,063) 
Reclassification to investment 

properties (Note 16) 108 - - - - 108 

Eliminated on disposals - 163 536 5 189 893 

As at 31 December 2024 (508) (4,257) (787) (489) (6,721) (12,762) 

Net carrying amount       
As at 31 December 2024 3,959 947 508 1,150 4,760 11,324 

As at 31 December 2023 4,030 2,824 739 1,350 4,140 13,083 
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
The Group has the intention to hold investment properties to earn rentals or for capital appreciation. As at 31 
December 2024, the Group leases out one investment property which is a shop, and the Group has the intention to 

hold remaining investment properties which are ten shops and five car parking spaces to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation. 

 
Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2024 on the open market value basis by reference to market 
evidence of recent transactions for similar properties by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent firm of 
chartered surveyors.
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

At 1 January - - 
Additions (Note 31(l)) 14,835 - 

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 426 - 

Disposals (101) - 

Fair value loss (944) - 

At 31 December 14,216 - 

 

Description 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs Range 

Effect on 
fair value 
for increase 
of inputs Fair value 

     RMB’000 
Investment properties 

- the PRC 
Direct comparison 

approach 

Market price of  

car park 

RMB 109,000 Increase 545 

Investment properties 
- the PRC 

Direct comparison 

approach 

Market price of 

shop 

RMB8,000-RMB22,000 

per square meter 

Increase 13,671 

 
17. LEASES 

The Group entered into a number of lease agreements for the use of office and shop premises and car park spaces 
in the PRC with lease terms of from 2 to 6 years (2023: 2 to 7 years). Certain lease agreements contain options to 
extend or terminate the lease. Under certain lease agreements with the extension option, the rental amount and 
lease terms for extension period are subject to negotiation with respective landlords on an individual basis at the 
time of renewal. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has entered into a new lease contract. As a result of lease 
commencement, right-of-use assets with costs of RMB94,000 and the corresponding lease liabilities of RMB94,000 
were recognized accordingly. 
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17. LEASES (Continued) 
(a) Right-of-use assets  

 

 
Office and 

 shop premises 

 RMB’000 
Cost  

As at 1 January 2023 348 

Additions  1,299 

Lease reassessment (348) 

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1,299 

Additions 94 

Lease termination (128) 

As at 31 December 2024 1,265 

Accumulated depreciation  
As at 1 January 2023 (151) 
Depreciation for the year (217) 
Eliminated on lease modifications 207 

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 (161) 
Depreciation for the year (320) 
Lease termination  128 

As at 31 December 2024 (353) 

Net carrying amount  
As at 31 December 2024 912 

As at 31 December 2023 1,138 

 
Right-of-use assets of RMB682,000 were included in the CGU of Fineland E-life and the remaining right-of-
use assets of RMB230,000 were included in the CGU of Yikang. Please refer to Note 27 for impairment 
assessment of the respective CGUs. 
 
Total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Within operating activities 4,043 7,982 
Within financing activities 358 237 

 4,401 8,219 
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17. LEASES (Continued) 
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) 

The incremental borrowing rates (“IBR”) applied to lease liabilities ranged from 3.20% to 27.52% were by 

reference to the IBR estimated by Cushman & Wakefield.  
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Current liabilities  298 321 
Non-current liabilities 696 880 

 994 1,201 

 

As at 31 December 2024 

Present value Interest 
Minimum  

lease payment 
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Not later than one year 298 13 311 

Later than one year and not later than two years 275 26 301 

Later than two years and not later than five years 421 53 474 

After five years - - - 

 994 92 1,086 

 

As at 31 December 2023 

Present value Interest 
Minimum  

lease payment 
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Not later than one year 321 16 337 
Later than one year and not later than two years 236 14 250 
Later than two years and not later than five years 612 80 692 

After five years 32 12 44 

 1,201 122 1,323 

 

During the year, the major short-term leases that the Group acted as a lessee were as follows: 

 

Underlying assets  Actual lease term Annual rent 
  RMB’000 

Property I 12 months 3,398 
Property II 3 months 162 

 
Short-term lease expenses included in loss before income tax (Note 9).  
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any commitment related to the short-term leases. 
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Trade receivables 166,224 142,599 
Less: impairment losses (82,268) (38,651) 

 83,956 103,948 

 

Trade receivables are mainly receivables of property management services income and real estate agency services 
income and no credit terms are granted generally. For property management services income, the customers are 

required to settle the invoices which are due on presentation. For real estate agency services income, the customers 
are required to settle the amounts due upon completion of services provided or pursuant to the terms and conditions 

of the relevant agreements. The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment losses) based on invoice 
date (which is also the due date) as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 
 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Within 1 year 61,946 64,456 
1 to 2 years 17,975 32,977 

Over 2 years 4,035 6,515 

 83,956 103,948 

 
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values. 
 
No interest is charged on trade receivables. 
 
In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group monitors any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivables. 

 
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the 

lifetime ECLs provision for all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Movements in the provision for impairment of trade 

receivables are shown in Note 33(a). For the year ended 31 December 2024, additional provision of RMB43,617,000 
(2023: RMB24,156,000) was made against the gross amounts of trade receivables. 

 
As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables of one of the Company’s subsidiaries with a maximum amount of 

approximately RMB28,152,000 was pledged as collateral to secure a bank loan of RMB19,930,000 (Note 30). As at 
31 December 2024, the bank loan was fully repaid by end of the term, but the procedures for the release of the 

equity pledge have not yet been completed. 
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19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Rental and utility deposits 1,107 1,010 
Prepayments (Note (a)) 9,725 16,035 

Other receivables and deposits (Note (b)) 38,362 38,706 
Payment on behalf of property owners 9,093 10,276 

 58,287 66,027 
Less: Impairment losses  (4,417) (2,386) 

 53,870 63,641 

 
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of other receivables and deposits during the year are as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 2,386 1,557 
Impairment losses recognized during the year (Note 33 (a)) 2,031 829 

As at 31 December 4,417 2,386 

 
Notes: 

(a) The balance represents prepaid utilities, cleaning fee, fuel for motor vehicles and commissions to real estate agents. The 

remaining prepayments will be subsequently recognized as administrative expenses when the Group consumes the benefits 

of such expenses. For the prepaid commissions, it will be subsequently recognized as commission expenses and charged to 

profit or loss when the Group recognizes the related real estate agency services income. 

 

(b) As at 31 December 2024, other receivables and deposits included refundable deposits paid to sub-contracted real estate 

agents of approximately RMB894,000 (2023: RMB974,000) in accordance with the underlying agreements to enable them to 

carry out the real estate agency services to the Group in the primary market projects situated in the PRC. The deposits will 

be released to the Group upon completion of the respective agreements with terms that are generally less than one year. 

The remaining balances mainly included medical insurance, bidding for property management services and housing public 

maintenance fund. 

 

As at 31 December 2024, included in other receivables and deposits was RMB15,000,000 (2023: RMB15,000,000), which 

represented a deposit paid to property developer in accordance with the relevant agreement to obtain the agency sales 

rights of the parking spaces in order to sell the right-of-use of car parking space. The Group has the right to recover the 

deposit if the right-of-use of car parking space fails to be sold. 

 

The remaining balances mainly included deposits for car park, medical insurance, bidding for property management services 

and housing public maintenance fund. 
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20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/RELATED COMPANIES, RELATED 
COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
The amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests 

as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 are trade in nature, unsecured, and interest-free and they are obliged to settle 
the amounts due upon completion of services provided or pursuant to the terms and conditions of the relevant 
agreements. Apart from Fineland Group disclosed in Note 9, the related companies are investee companies of the 
Fineland Group and there are common directors between Fineland Group Holdings and the investee companies.  
 
Included in the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies at the reporting date are earnest money of 
RMB5,523,000, after impairment losses of RMB24,294,000 (2023: RMB17,411,000) paid by the Group to the property 
developers enabling the Group to entitle to an exclusive agency right to sell properties relating to certain primary 
market projects in the PRC during an agreed period (“Exclusivity Period”). The earnest money will be released to 
the Group at the end of the Exclusivity Period as stipulated in the respective agreements. 
 
The impairment policies on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-
controlling interests during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 are set out in Note 33(a). 
 
The ageing analysis of amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, related companies and non-controlling interests, based 
on invoice date (which is also the due date), is as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies 97,727 120,692 

Less: Impairment losses (80,820) (58,215) 

 16,907 62,477 

Within 1 year 846 8,323 
1 to 2 years 962 40,676 
Over 2 years 15,099 13,478 

 16,907 62,477 

 
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies 
during the year are as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 58,215 1,723 
Impairment losses recognized during the year 22,605 56,492 

As at 31 December 80,820 58,215 
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20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/RELATED COMPANIES, RELATED 
COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 

 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due from related companies 63,802 61,187 
Less: Impairment losses (42,363) (20,509) 

 21,439 40,678 

Within 1 year 2,905 2,961 
Over 1 year 18,534 37,717 

 21,439 40,678 

 
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of amounts due from related companies during the year are as 
follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 20,509 640 
Impairment losses recognized during the year 21,854 19,869 

As at 31 December 42,363 20,509 

 
 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due from non-controlling interests 1,600 1,660 

Less: Impairment losses (160) (116) 

 1,440 1,544 

Within 1 year - 950 
Over 1 year 1,440 594 

 1,440 1,544 

 
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of amounts due from non-controlling interests during the year 

are as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 116 500 
Impairment losses recognized during the year 44 - 
Impairment losses reversed during the year - (384) 

As at 31 December 160 116 
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20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/RELATED COMPANIES, RELATED 
COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 
The ageing analysis of amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-

controlling interests based on invoice date (which is also the due date) as at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows: 

 
 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/related companies   
Within 1 year 2,260 1,491 
Over 1 year - 449 

 2,260 1,940 

 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due to related companies   
Within 1 year 21 - 

 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Amounts due to non-controlling interests   
Within 1 year 159 259 

 
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 
 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Unlisted partnership investments, at fair value (Note (a)) 5,407 3,950 
Unlisted investments, at fair value (Note (b)) 1,016 527 
Contingent consideration receivable (Note (c)) - 3,855 

 6,423 8,332 

Categorised as:    
Non-current portion 5,407 3,950 
Current portion 1,016 4,382 

 6,423 8,332 

   
Notes: 

(a) On 31 July 2023, the Group acquired 15% of the equity interests in Guangzhou Haofang Xihui Investment Partnership (L.P.) 

(“Guangzhou Haofang Xihui”) from an independent third party for a cash consideration of RMB1,264,000. On 12 August 

2024, the Group further acquired 10% of the equity interest in Guangzhou Haofang Xihui from an independent third party for 

a cash consideration of RMB924,000. The objective of Guangzhou Haofang Xihui is to achieve capital appreciation through 

equity investments. Under the partnership agreement, the Group is one of the limited partners who do not have the power 

to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of Guangzhou Haofang Xihui while the general partner, who is 

an independent third party, has the rights and power to administer the daily affairs of Guangzhou Haofang Xihui. The Group’

s maximum exposure to loss from its interest in the partnership is limited to the carrying amount of RMB2,080,000 (2023: 

RMB1,078,000). 

(b)  
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) 
On 8 July 2022, the Group acquired 40% of the equity interests in Guangzhou Yijia Investment Partnership (L.P.) (formerly 

known as Shenzhen Lejia Yida Investment Partnership (L.P.) (“Guangzhou Yijia”) from an independent third party for a cash 

consideration of RMB3,370,000. The objective of Guangzhou Yijia is to achieve capital appreciation through equity 

investments. Under the partnership agreement, the Group is one of the limited partners who do not have the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of Guangzhou Yijia while the general partner, who is an independent 

third party, has the rights and power to administer the daily affairs of Guangzhou Yijia. The Group’s maximum exposure to 

loss from its interest in the partnership is limited to the carrying amount of RMB3,327,000 (2023: RMB2,872,000). 

 

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the partnership investments was RMB5,407,000 (2023: RMB3,950,000). The fair 

value gain of RMB533,000 (2023: loss of RMB1,029,000) on the partnership investments is recognized in “other income, losses 

and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Note 8).  

 

For fair value estimation, please refer to Note 33 (e). 

 

(c) The unlisted investments were wealth management products issued by a bank in the PRC. They were classified as financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. 

 

The wealth management products are classified as current as the management expects to realize these financial assets within 

twelve months after the reporting period. 

 

For fair value estimation, please refer to Note 33 (e). 

 

(d) Contingent consideration payable/receivable represents the fair value of contingent consideration which may be paid or 

received in cash by the Group for the acquisition of Changsha Ji Yang Hong Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Ji Yang Hong”) 

and Guangdong Yikang Property Service Co., Ltd. (“Yikang”).  

 

As at 31 December 2023, the expected net profit of Yikang for the year ended 31 December 2023 did not meet the 2023 

guaranteed profit and accordingly, the consideration was deducted by RMB5,470,000 which has been recognized as fair value 

gain on contingent consideration payable as set out in Note 8. The balance of the consideration of RMB3,855,000 is expected 

to be received in 2024. 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the actual net profit of Ji Yang Hong for the year ended 31 December 2023 met the 2023 guaranteed 

profit and accordingly, the consideration (third instalment) was added by RMB464,000 which has been recognized as fair 

value loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 as set out in Note 8. The balance of the consideration of RMB6,186,000 is 

expected to be paid in 2024 (Note 23(b)). 

 

As at 31 December 2024, the contingent consideration receivable was derecognized as the management is of the opinion 

that it is unlikely to be recovered. The resulting loss on contingent consideration receivable of RMB3,855,000 was recognized 

in “other income, losses and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Note 

8). 
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22. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES, BANK BALANCES AND CASH 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Total bank balances and cash 66,550 90,778 
Less: Restricted bank balances (1,785) (2,644) 

Cash and cash equivalents 64,765 88,134 

 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, restricted bank balances and bank balances carry interest at prevailing or agreed 
deposit rates. The deposit rate range is nil to 0.7% (2023: Nil to 0.7%).  

 
As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s restricted bank balances and bank balances is an amount of 

approximately RMB66,165,000 (2023: RMB88,235,000), which are deposits with banks in the PRC and denominated 
in RMB, and RMB is not a freely convertible currency. 

 
23. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 

(a) Trade payables 
The amounts mainly represented the commissions payable to co-operative real estate agents and payable to 
the property management service providers. The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date 
(which is also the due date) as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Within 1 year 62,696 58,256 
Over 1 year 11,770 13,100 

 74,466 71,356 

 
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair 
values as at the end of the reporting period. Trade payables are interest-free and the normal trade credit terms 
granted to the Group range from 30 days to 180 days from the date of invoice. 
 

(b) Accruals and other payable 
 

  2024 2023 

  RMB'000 RMB'000 
Accrued staff benefits (Note (a)) 51,162 53,478 

Deposits received (Note (b)) 44,992 49,873 

Temporary receipts from properties owners 5,019 3,003 

Accrued utilities 7,196 6,052 

Other tax payables 6,889 6,783 

Consideration payable (Note 21 (c), Note 35(c)) - 6,186 

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 411 999 

Others 15,652 13,134 

  131,321 139,508 
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23. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 
(b) Accruals and other payable (Continued) 

Note: 

(a) For legal cases in labor arbitration, during the year, the Group made a provision of RMB1,275,000 (2023: RMB1,852,000) 

included in accrued staff benefits and salaries, allowances and other benefits (Note 10). 

 

(b) Deposits received were mainly received from property owners as performance securities in relation to property 

management services agreements. 

 
24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities: 
 

  2024 2023 

  RMB’000 RMB’000 
Contract liabilities from third parties  52,978 50,862 

 
(a) Significant changes in contract liabilities 

As at 1 January 2023, the contract liabilities amounted to approximately RMB47,312,000. 
 
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the contract liabilities mainly arose from the advance payments made by 
customers while the underlying services were yet to be provided. 
 

(b) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities 
The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognized in the reporting period that relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability balance  
at the beginning of the year   

Real estate agency services - 92 
Property management services 35,119 47,220 

 35,119 47,312 

 

(c) Assets recognized from incremental cost to obtain a contract 
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there was no significant incremental cost to obtain a 

contract. 
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 Number Amount 
  HK$’000 

Ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.01 each   
   

Authorized    
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 10,000,000,000 100,000 

 

 Number Amount Amount 
  HK$’000 RMB’000 

Ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.01 each    
    
Issued and fully paid    
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 
 

400,000,000 4,000 3,403 

 
26. RESERVES 

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity 
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The nature and purpose of the reserves are as follows: 

 
Share premium 
Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the par value of the shares of the Company issued at a 
premium, less share issuing expenses. 

 
Capital reserve 
Capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the carrying value of 
the subsidiaries acquired and was recorded in the equity. 

 
Statutory reserve 
In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries, 
it is required to appropriate 10% of the annual net profits of the PRC subsidiaries, after offsetting any prior years’ 
losses as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their respective statutory reserves before 
distributing any net profit. When the balances of the statutory reserves reach 50% of their respective registered 
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of equity owners. 

 
Exchange reserve 
This reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations. This reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy information in Note 4(l). 
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27. GOODWILL 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Cost   
As at 1 January and 31 December  47,646 47,646 

Accumulated impairment losses   
As at 1 January   

Impairment losses (7,818) - 

As at 31 December  (7,818) - 

Net carrying amount    
As at 31 December  39,828 47,646 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2022 
The Group had acquired 60% of the equity interests in Guangdong Yikang Property Service Co., Ltd (“Yikang”). At 

the date of the acquisition, other intangible asset arising from customer relationship of RMB6,000,000 (Note 28) and 
goodwill of RMB17,646,000 had been recognized during the year ended 31 December 2022. 

 
The Group had acquired 51% of the equity interests in Guangdong Juncheng Fangyuan Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(formerly known as Guangdong Juncheng Fangyuan Property Service Co., Ltd.) (“Juncheng”). At the date of the 
acquisition, goodwill of RMB702,000 had been recognized during the year ended 31 December 2022.

 
The Group had acquired 100% of the equity interests in Guiping Yuegui Huacheng Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(“Yuegui”). At the date of the acquisition, goodwill of RMB2,023,000 had been recognized during the year ended 31 
December 2022. 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
The Group had acquired approximately 66.31% of the equity interests in Guangzhou Fineland E-Life Service Co., Ltd. 
(“Fineland E-life”). At the date of the acquisition, other intangible asset arising from customer relationship of 
RMB32,000,000 and goodwill of RMB5,528,000 had been recognized during the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 
The Group had acquired 51% of the equity interests in Liuyang Jichuang Community Service Co., Ltd. (“Jichuang 
Community”). At the date of the acquisition, goodwill of RMB183,000 had been recognized during the year ended 
31 December 2021. 

 
The Group had acquired 51% of the equity interests in Changsha Ji Yang Hong Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Ji 
Yang Hong”). At the date of the acquisition, goodwill of RMB21,564,000 had been recognized during the year ended 
31 December 2021.

 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGUs identified which are included in the property 
management services segment as follows: 
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27. GOODWILL (Continued) 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Fineland E-Life 5,528 5,528 
Jichuang Community 183 183 

Ji Yang Hong 18,825 21,564 

Yikang 12,567 17,646 

Juncheng 702 702 

Yuegui 2,023 2,023 

As at 31 December 39,828 47,646 

 
The recoverable amount of the CGUs to which the goodwill relates has been determined based on a value-in-use 
calculation with reference to a valuation performed by Cushman & Wakefield, an independent expert valuation firm. 
In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and other intangible assets 
(including allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash flows together with the related goodwill are also 
included in the respective CGUs for the purpose of impairment assessment. The calculations are based on financial 

budgets covering a five-year period approved by management and an extrapolation of expected cash flows with 1% 
(2023: 2%) growth rates. Key assumptions are based on past performance, management estimation on market 

development and general inflation based on the growth rates which did not exceed the long-term average growth 
rates for the business in which the CGU operates. The discount rate used for value-in-use calculations are pre-tax 

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. 
 

Based on the valuation report prepared by independent professional valuer, Cushman & Wakefield, the recoverable 
amount of the CGUs and impairment losses recognized for the year are as follows: 

 

 
Recoverable amount of 

the CGU 
Impairment losses 

recognized for the year 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Fineland E-Life 110,956 - 

Jichuang Community 1,778 - 

Ji Yang Hong 38,956 2,739 

Yikang 23,970 5,079 

Juncheng 5,920 - 

Yuegui 2,834 - 

As at 31 December 2024 184,414 7,818 

 

The directors of the Company expected that the revenue from property management services will become the major 
revenue stream of the CGUs during the cash flow projection period. The revenue was projected based on the 
forecasted number of contracts with customers. The operational data was sourced from main operational units of 
the CGU in Guangdong, Liuyang, Changsha and Guiping. The directors of the Company are of the view that the 

growth in the property management services will be moderate in considering the impact brought by uncertain 
economic conditions on the business and economic environment the CGUs operating.  
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27. GOODWILL (Continued) 
The sluggish property market has had and is expected to continue to have a material impact on the Group’s property 
management business and economic environment in which the CGUs operate, especially for Ji Yang Hong and 

Yikang CGUs. Since the recoverable amounts of Ji Yang Hong and Yikang CGUs are lower than their carrying values, 
impairment losses of RMB7,818,000 were recognized for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows: 
 

2024 
Fineland 

E-Life 
Jichuang 

Community 
Ji Yang 

Hong Yikang Juncheng Yuegui 
Annual revenue growth/ 

(recession) rate 1% (4%)-1% 1%-22% (20%)-1% 2%-11% 1% 

Discount rate 17% 15% 18% 18% 15% 15% 

 

2023 
Fineland 

E-Life 
Jichuang 

Community 
Ji Yang 

Hong Yikang Juncheng Yuegui 
Annual revenue growth/ 

(recession) rate (3%)-2% 2% 2%-8% 2% (17%)-2% 2% 

Discount rate 18% 14% 17% 17% 15% 14% 

 
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying 

amounts of each of the CGU to exceed their respective recoverable amounts. 
 

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company determined that impairment losses on goodwill of 
RMB7,818,000 is required (2023: Nil). 

 
28. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

   
Customer 

relationship 
   RMB’000 

Cost    
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,  

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 
 

 38,000 

Amortization    
As at 1 January 2023   9,122 
amortization for the year   5,542 

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024   14,664 
Amortization for the year   5,543 

As at 31 December 2024   20,207 

Net carrying amount    
As at 31 December 2024   17,793 

As at 31 December 2023   23,336 

 
Other intangible assets of RMB16,168,000 were included in the CGU of Fineland E-life and the remaining other 

intangible assets of RMB1,625,000 were included in the CGU of Yikang. Please refer to Note 27 for impairment 
assessment of the respective CGUs.
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29. DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES 
On 21 June 2023, Guangzhou Fineland Living Services Limited (“Fineland Living Services”) (as the purchaser), an 
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and an independent third party which is also a customer of the 

Group (as the vendor) entered into a settlement agreement, pursuant to which, Fineland Living Services has 
conditionally agreed to procure Fineland Living Services or its nominated subsidiary(ies) to pay a cash deposit of 
RMB3,988,000 and set-off the outstanding trade receivables of RMB15,951,000 owed to the Group by the vendor, 
by way of accepting the transfer of the properties with total market value of RMB20,000,000 from the vendor to the 
Group. 
 
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the 
12-month ECL provision for deposit for acquisition of properties.  
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided ECL allowance of RMB11,000 (2023: RMB100,000) 
on the deposit. 
 
As at 31 December 2024 and the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, the conditions 
precedent set out in the agreement have not been fulfilled. 
 

30. BANK BORROWINGS 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Bank borrowing, secured - 19,366 

 
As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings are as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Within one year or on demand - 19,366 

 
On 14 November 2023, the Group mutually agreed with the bank to extend the bank loan of approximately 
RMB19,930,000 until 14 November 2024. The extension of the bank loan was a result of renegotiation of the terms 

and did not constitute the breach of the banking facility. The directors of the Company consider that such extension 
does not represent a substantial modification of the banking facility and the extension did not result in the 

extinguishment of the financial liabilities. Accordingly, the Group has recognized a gain arising from loan 
modification of RMB668,000 in profit or loss for the year (Note 8). 

 
As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings were denominated in RMB19,366,000 and carried interest at fixed rate 

of 4% per annum. 
 

The bank loan was secured by certain trade receivables of one of the Company’s subsidiaries with a maximum 
amount of approximately RMB28,152,000 (Note 18), a personal guarantee from the ultimate controlling shareholder, 

Mr. Fong Ming, corporate guarantees from the fellow subsidiaries/related companies and a legal charge over a 
fellow subsidiary’s/related company’s land and buildings. The Group pledged approximately 68.9% equity interests 

in one of the Company’s subsidiaries to secure the bank loan granted to the Group. 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the bank loan has been fully repaid by end of the term, but the procedures for the release 
of the equity pledge have not yet been completed.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered 

into the following transactions with related parties: 

 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Real estate agency services income from  
fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  134 6,847 

Real estate agency services income from  
investee companies of fellow subsidiaries/related companies  137 1,027 

Real estate agency services income from  
associates of fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  1,397 3,588 

Property management services income from  
fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  6,002 8,199 

Property management services income from  
related companies (Note 31(k))  - 554 

Property management services income from  
associates of fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  5,800 4,357 

Property management service income from  
investee companies of fellow subsidiaries/related companies  2,670 1,356 

Value-added services to non-property owners income from  
fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  1,787 6,515 

Value-added services to non-property owners income from  
associates of fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  4,200 5,633 

Value-added services to non-property owners income from  
investee companies of fellow subsidiaries/related companies  887 5,092 

Other value-added services income from  
fellow subsidiaries/related companies (Note 31(k))  34 2,181 

Other value-added services income from  
an associate of a fellow subsidiary (Note 31(k))  - 26 

Sales of goods from associates of fellow subsidiaries  - 19 

Short-term leases expenses to fellow subsidiaries/related companies  
(Note 31(k))  3,266 6,376 

Consultancy fee to a fellow subsidiary/related company  1,630 990 
Purchase of goods from a related party 365 - 

 

The above transactions were conducted on mutually agreed terms. 
 

(b) On 11 October 2017, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into trademark license agreements (the 
“Trademark License Agreements”), pursuant to which Fineland Group Holdings agreed to grant to the Group 

an exclusive license to use certain trademarks registered by Fineland Group Holdings (“Licensed Trademarks”) 
in Hong Kong and the PRC at nil consideration. The term of the Trademark License Agreements commences 

on the date thereof until the expiration date of the Licensed Trademarks. 
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  
(c) On 11 October 2017, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into a master agency service agreement, 

pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide real estate agency services in the primary property market to 

members of the Fineland Group for a term commencing from the date thereof to 31 December 2019. On 26 
September 2018, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into a supplemental master agency service 
agreement that extended the contract terms to 31 December 2020. On 3 September 2020, the Group and 
Fineland Group Holdings entered into a renewal master agency agreement for a further term of three years 
commencing on 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. On 25 October 2023, the Group and Fineland Group 
Holdings entered into a renewal master agency agreement for a further term of three years commencing on 1 
January 2024 to 31 December 2026. 
 

(d) On 1 January 2020, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into Trademark License Agreements, 
pursuant to which certain companies of the Group are licensed to use certain trademarks owned by Fineland 
Group Holdings on a non-exclusive and royalty-free basis for the period from 1 January 2020 until the expiry 
of the trademarks. 
 

(e) On 28 January 2021, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into a master property management 
services agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide property management services to Fineland 
Group for a term commencing from the date thereof to 31 December 2023. 
 

(f) On 28 January 2021, the Group and Guangdong Fineland Education Investment Limited (“Fineland Education”) 
entered into a master property management services agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to 
provide property management services to Fineland Education and its subsidiaries (“Fineland Education Group”) 

for a term commencing from the date thereof to 31 December 2023. 
 

(g) On 28 January 2021, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into a master lease agreement, pursuant 
to which any Group company as tenant may continue, amend, renew the existing lease agreements or enter 

into new leases with Finelend Group for a term of three years commencing retrospectively from 1 January 2021 
and ending on 31 December 2023. On 25 October 2023, the Group and Fineland Group Holdings entered into 

a renewal master lease agreement for a further term of three years commencing on 1 January 2024 to 31 
December 2026. 

 
(h) On 10 June 2021, the Group and Mr. Fong Ming, a non-executive director and the ultimate controlling 

shareholder of the Company, (for and on behalf of his associates (excluding the Group)) entered into a master 
IT services agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide IT services to the associates of Mr. Fong 

Ming (excluding the Group) for a term commencing from 15 July 2021 to 31 December 2023.  

(i) On 25 October 2023, the Group and Mr. Fong Ming, a non-executive director and the ultimate controlling 
shareholder of the Company, (for and on behalf of his associates which included Fineland Group and Fineland 

Education Group (excluding the Group)) entered into a master property management services agreement for 
a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. 

 
(j) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
Emoluments of key management personnel, who are executive directors of the Company, during the reporting 
period are set out in Note 11. 
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  
(k) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions 

The figures disclosed above in relation to real estate agency services income, property management services 

income, value-added services to non-property owners income, other value-added services income, sales of 
goods and short-term leases expenses included approximately RMB1,531,000, RMB10,937,000, RMB5,357,000, 
RMB34,000, RMBNil and RMB3,266,000 respectively which also constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules are set out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” in the Directors’ Report. 

 
(l) Settlement of outstanding receivables 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into a settlement agreement with a customer, 
which is also a fellow subsidiary of the Group, pursuant to which trade receivables of RMB1,643,000 owing 
from the customer to the Group were to be settled by the assignment of a property with fair value of 
RMB1,643,000 from the customer to the Group. The legal title of the property had been transferred to the 
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023. Accordingly, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries with 
carrying amount of RMB1,643,000 were derecognized and the property was recognized as the buildings with 
purchase cost of RMB1,564,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023. 
 
On 6 December 2023, the Group entered into a settlement agreement with customers, which were fellow 
subsidiaries of the Group and an independent third party, pursuant to which amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries of RMB14,531,000 and trade receivables of RMB634,000 owing from the customer to the Group 
were to be settled by the assignment of commercial properties and car parking spaces with fair value of 
RMB15,165,000 from these customers to the Group. The legal title of the commercial properties and car parking 

spaces has been transferred to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024. Accordingly, amounts 
due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies with carrying amount of RMB14,531,000 and trade receivables 
with carrying amount of RMB634,000 were derecognized and the commercial properties and car parking 
spaces was recognized as the investment properties with purchase cost of RMB14,835,000 during the year 

(Note 16). 

 
32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce cost of capital. 
 
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher 
shareholders’ returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security 

afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions. 

 
Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio 
is calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. 
 

The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period was as follows:
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32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Total liabilities 281,018 305,365 

Total assets 366,742 478,291 

Gearing ratio 77% 64% 

 
33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a) Credit risk 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts 
due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are 

trade in nature and bank balances. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit 
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. 

 
(i) Bank balances 

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks since 
they are substantially deposited at state-owned banks and reputable banks. Management does not 
expect that there will be any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties. 

 
(ii) Trade receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies 

and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature 
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the 
use of the lifetime ECL provision for trade receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related 
companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature. The Group 
measures the expected credit losses on a combination of individual and collective basis. 
 
Accordingly, the ECLs on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies 
and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature, were RMB80,820,000 (2023: RMB58,215,000), 
RMB42,363,000 (2023: RMB20,509,000) and RMB160,000 (2023: RMB116,000) respectively as at 31 

December 2024 on an individual basis. 
 

Trade receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection 
of receivables are assessed individually for provision of impairment allowance. As at 31 December 2024, 

the balance of loss allowance in respect of these individually assessed receivables was RMB389,000 (2023: 
RMB389,000). 

 
ECLs are estimated by grouping the remaining trade receivables based on shared credit risk 

characteristics. The ECLs also incorporate forward-looking information. The information about the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for the remaining receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 

is set out in the table below. 
 

(iii) Deposits and other receivables 
The Group makes periodic collective assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of 

deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement records and past experience. During the 
year, the Group provided ECLs on deposits and other receivables of RMB2,031,000 (2023: RMB829,000). 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 
The Group has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECLs. 

The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information and especially the following 
indicators are incorporated: 
 

• internal credit rating; 
 
• external credit rating; 
 
• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations; 
 
• actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of individual property owner or the debtor; 
 
• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the individual property owner or the 

debtor; and 
 
• significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the 

payment status of debtors and changes in the operating results of the debtor. 
 

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowance provision for trade receivables was determined as follows: 
 

Expected credit loss of trade receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2024 
 

 
Historical 
loss rate 

Forward-
looking 

Adjustment 
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net carrying 
amount 

   % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Assessed collectively       

Past due       

Within 1 year 18% 10% 20% 77,766 (15,820) 61,946 

1 to 2 years 43% 10% 48% 34,435 (16,460) 17,975 

2 to 3 years 79% 10% 88% 32,406 (28,371) 4,035 

Over 3 years - - 100% 21,228 (21,228) - 

Assessed individually       

Full expected loss   100% 389 (389) - 

Total    166,224 (82,268) 83,956 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 

Real estate agency services 
 

 
Expected loss 

rate 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Loss  

allowance 
Net carrying  

amount 
 % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assessed collectively     

Past due     

Within 1 year 35.99% 764 (275) 489 

1 to 2 years 100% 388 (388) - 

2 to 3 years 100% 12,952 (12,952) - 

Over 3 years 100% 698 (698) - 

Assessed individually     

Full expected loss 100% 389 (389) - 

Sub-total  15,191 (14,702) 489 

 
Property management services 
 

 
Expected loss 

rate 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Loss  

allowance 
Net carrying  

amount 
 % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assessed collectively     

Past due     

Within 1 year 20.19% 77,002 (15,545) 61,457 

1 to 2 years 47.21% 34,047 (16,072) 17,975 

2 to 3 years 79.26% 19,454 (15,419) 4,035 

Over 3 years 100% 20,530 (20,530) - 

Sub-total   151,033 (67,566) 83,467 

Total  166,224 (82,268) 83,956 

 
As at 31 December 2023, loss allowance provision for trade receivables was determined as follows: 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 

Expected credit loss of trade receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2023 

 

 
Historical 
loss rate 

Forward-
looking 

Adjustment 
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net carrying 
amount 

   % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Assessed collectively       

Past due       

Within 1 year 11% 11% 12% 73,650 (9,194) 64,456 

1 to 2 years 23% 11% 26% 44,348 (11,371) 32,977 

2 to 3 years 50% 11% 56% 14,692 (8,177) 6,515 

Over 3 years   100% 9,520 (9,520) - 

Assessed individually       

Full expected loss   100% 389 (389) - 

Total    142,599 (38,651) 103,948 

 
Real estate agency services 
 

 
Expected loss 

rate 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Loss  

allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 
 % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assessed collectively     

Past due     
Within 1 year 2.88% 1,251 (36) 1,215 
1 to 2 years 10.17% 13,661 (1,389) 12,272 
2 to 3 years 100% 1,061 (1,061) - 

Over 3 years 100% 61 (61) - 
Assessed individually     

Full expected loss 100% 389 (389) - 

Sub-total  16,423 (2,936) 13,487 

 
Property management services 
 

 
Expected loss 

rate 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Loss  

allowance 
Net carrying  

amount 
 % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assessed collectively     

Past due     
Within 1 year 12.65% 72,399 (9,158) 63,241 
1 to 2 years 32.53% 30,687 (9,982) 20,705 
2 to 3 years 52.20% 13,631 (7,116) 6,515 

Over 3 years 100% 9,459 (9,459) - 

Sub-total   126,176 (35,715) 90,461 

Total  142,599 (38,651) 103,948 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 

Expected credit loss of related party receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2024 

 

 

Probability 
of default 

Loss 
given 

default 

Forward-
looking 

Adjustment 
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

    % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Fellow subsidiaries/related companies  

- non-pledged 36%-100% 80%-81% 10% 81%-94% 97,727 (80,820) 16,907 

        

Related companies        

- non-pledged 36%-100% 64%-80% 10% 25%-94% 47,852 (42,320) 5,532 

- pledged    - 15,950 (43) 15,907 

Total     63,802 (42,363) 21,439 

        

Non-controlling 
interest 

   10% 1,600 (160) 1,440 

 
Expected credit loss of related party receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2023 
 

 

Probability 
of default 

Loss 
given 

default 

Forward-
looking 

Adjustment 
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

    % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Fellow subsidiaries         

- non-pledged 35%-100% 10%-53% 11% 21%-56% 105,461 (58,212) 47,249 

- pledged    - 15,231 (3) 15,228 

Total     120,692 (58,215) 62,477 

        

Related companies        

- non-pledged 35%-100% 10%-64% 11% 25%-45% 45,237 (20,113) 25,124 

- pledged    2% 15,950 (396) 15,554 

Total     61,187 (20,509) 40,678 

        

Non-controlling 
interest    5%-10% 1,660 (116) 1,544 

 
During the year, a significant change of inputs in related party receivables was that loss given default (“LGD”) 
of certain fellow subsidiaries and related companies increased. LGD of certain fellow subsidiaries and related 
companies in stage 2 increased to 80% (2023: 10%) and in stage 3 increased to 81% (2023: 51%), which was 
mainly due to (i) weakness and uncertainty in the PRC property market in which these fellow subsidiaries or 
related companies operate, and (ii) the deterioration of the historical repayment rate of these fellow 
subsidiaries or related companies.  
 
The change of LGD was considered in deriving the ECL estimation with reference to a valuation performed by 
Cushman & Wakefield, an independent expert valuation firm.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 

The impairment policies on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and 

non-controlling interests during the year ended 31 December 2024 are based on the Group’s internal credit 
risk grading assessment comprising the following categories: 
 

Internal credit rating Description  

Amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies, 

related companies and non-
controlling interests

Stage 1 The counterparty has good ability of  
repayment, but may infrequently 
settle after due date 

Lifetime ECL 

Stage 2 The counterparty has enough ability of  
repayment, but may settle in full 
after due date 

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 

Stage 3 There is evidence indicating the  
asset is credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 

 
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL 
assessment: 
 

 
Notes Internal credit 

rating 
12-month ECL 
Or lifetime ECL 

Gross carrying 
Amount 2024 

    RMB’000 
Trade receivables 18 N/A Lifetime ECL - 

not credit-impaired 
165,835 

   Lifetime ECL - 
credit-impaired 

389 

Deposits and other receivables  19 Stage 1 12-month ECL 48,562 

Amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries/related companies 

20 Stage 2 Lifetime ECL - 
not credit-impaired 

9,554 

  Stage 3 Lifetime ECL - 
credit-impaired 

88,173 

Amounts due from related companies 20 Stage 2 Lifetime ECL - 
not credit-impaired 

63,802 

Amounts due from non-controlling 
interests 

20 Stage 1 Lifetime ECL 1,600 

Restricted bank balances 22 Stage 1 12-month ECL 1,785 

Bank balances and cash 22 Stage 1 12-month ECL 64,765 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(a) Credit risk (Continued) 

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year are as follows: 

 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 38,651 14,495 
Impairment losses recognized during the year 43,617 24,156 

As at 31 December 82,268 38,651 

 

The increase in impairment loss allowance of approximately RMB43,617,000 (2023: RMB24,156,000) is primarily 
due to increase in gross carrying amount of credit impaired (assessed collectively) trade receivables. 

 
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers. 

 
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group has concentration of credit risk on amounts due from fellow 

subsidiaries/related companies, related companies and non-controlling interests which are trade in nature as 
the debtors were group entities under the Fineland Group. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does not 
provide any other guarantee which would expose the Group to credit risk. 
 
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables 
are set out in Note 18. 

 
(b) Liquidity risk  

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group 
maintains a reasonable level of cash and cash equivalents. The Group finances its working capital requirements 
mainly through funds generated from operations. 
 
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of 
the reporting period, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 

contractual rates or if floating, based on rates ruling at the end of the reporting period) and at the earliest date 
the Group can be required to pay. 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flows

Within  
1 year or  

on demand 

More than 
1 year but  

less than  
2 years 

Over 2 
years 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 31 December 2024      

Trade payables 74,466 74,466 74,466 - - 

Accruals and other payables 131,321 131,321 131,321 - - 

Lease liabilities 994 1,086 311 301 474 
Amounts due to fellow 

subsidiaries/related companies 
2,260 2,260 2,260 - - 

Amounts due to non-controlling 
interests 159 159 159 - - 

Amounts due to related companies  21 21 21 - - 

Total 209,221 209,313 208,538 301 474 

 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flows

Within  
1 year or  

on demand 

More than 
1 year but  

less than  
2 years 

Over 2 
years 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 31 December 2023      

Trade payables 71,356 71,356 71,356 - - 

Accruals and other payables 139,508 139,508 139,508 - - 

Lease liabilities 1,201 1,323 337 250 736 

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,940 1,940 1,940 - - 
Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests
259 259 259   

Bank borrowings 19,366 19,930 19,930 - - 

Total 233,630 234,316 233,330 250 736 

 
(c) Currency risk  

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the respective 
functional currencies of the group entities. 

 
(d) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from short-term bank 
borrowings at fixed rate which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group considers that its 
exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant in the absence of interest-bearing financial liabilities with 
contractual period exceeding one year. 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(e) Fair value estimation 

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values due to their short-

term nature. 
 
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value 
hierarchy: 
 
- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 
 
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
 

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 31 December 2024     
Financial assets at FVTPL     
- Wealth management products - - 1,016 1,016 

- Unlisted partnership investment - - 5,407 5,407 

 - - 6,423 6,423 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 31 December 2023     
Financial assets at FVTPL     
- Wealth management products - - 527 527 
- Unlisted partnership investment - - 3,950 3,950 

- Contingent consideration receivable - - 3,855 3,855 

 - - 8,332 8,332 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL     
- Consideration payable - - (6,186) (6,186) 

 
The fair values of wealth management products are categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy which 
is measured based on significant unobservable inputs and has been estimated by using a discounted cash flow 
valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks. 

 
The significant unobservable input is as follows: 

 

 2024 2023 

Annualized market interest rate 1.79% 1.96% 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(e) Fair value estimation (Continued) 

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of partnership investment is categorized within Level 3 of the 

fair value hierarchy and is determined by using the discounted cashflow technique which is based on the 
following significant unobservable inputs: 
 

 
As at 31 

December 
2024 

As at 31 
December 

2023 
Discount for lack of marketability 15.6% 15.7% 

Weighted average cost of capital 13.5% 14.0% 

Long-term revenue growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 

 
The fair values of contingent consideration receivable and consideration payable were categorized within Level 

3 of the fair value hierarchy and were determined using probabilities at which each net profit target would be 
achieved.

 

Financial  
instruments  

Valuation  
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs Range  

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value 

As at 31 December 2023     
Contingent consideration 

receivable - Yikang
Discounted 

cashflow 
Expected  

revenue 

 
Expected net  

profit 

RMB39,459,000 
 

 
RMB5,006,000 - 

5,796,000 

Increase in expected 
revenue and net 
profit would result in 
decrease in fair value 

 

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year. 
 

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 
are as follows: 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 8,332 4,231 

Additions 1,355 1,264 

Total gains or losses:   

- in profit or loss (included in other income, losses and gains, net) 591 (1,018) 

- loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable (3,855) - 

- fair value gain on contingent consideration receivable - 3,855 

As at 31 December 6,423 8,332 
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  
(e) Fair value estimation (Continued) 

 

Contingent consideration receivable/(consideration payable) 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January (2,331) (7,337) 
Settlement  6,186 - 
Total gains or losses:   
- in profit or loss (included in other income, losses and gains, net) (3,855) 5,006 

As at 31 December - (2,331) 

Representing:   
Contingent consideration receivable included in financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss (Note 21) - 3,855 
Consideration payable included in accruals and 

other payables (Note 23(b)) - (6,186) 

 - (2,331) 

Total net (losses)/gains recognized in profit or loss relating to financial 

instruments held by the Group at the reporting date (3,264) 3,988 

 
34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognized at 31 December 2024 is 
categorized as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Financial assets:   

Financial assets at FVTPL 6,423 8,332 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost   

Trade receivables 83,956 103,948 

Deposits and other receivables 44,145 47,606 

Amounts due from follow subsidiaries/related companies 16,907 62,477 

Amounts due from related companies 21,439 40,678 

Amounts due from non-controlling interests 1,440 1,544 

Restricted bank balances 1,785 2,644 

Bank balances and cash 64,765 88,134 

 234,437 347,031 

Financial liabilities   
Financial liabilities at FVTPL - 6,186 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 208,227 226,243 

Other financial liabilities - lease liabilities 994 1,201 
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(a) Major non-cash transaction  

On 6 December 2023, the Group entered into a settlement agreement with customers, which are fellow 

subsidiaries of the Group and an independent third party, pursuant to which amounts due from fellow 
subsidiaries of RMB14,531,000 and trade receivables of RMB634,000 owing from the customer to the Group 
are to be settled by the assignment of commercial properties and car parking spaces with fair value of 
RMB15,165,000 from these customers to the Group. The legal title of the commercial properties and car parking 
spaces has been transferred to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024. Accordingly, amounts 
due from fellow subsidiaries/related companies with carrying amount of RMB14,531,000 and trade receivables 
of RMB634,000 were derecognized and the commercial properties and car parking spaces was recognized as 
the investment properties with purchase cost of RMB14,835,000 during the year. 

 
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities. 
 

 
Lease 

liabilities 
Bank  

borrowings  Total  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 1 January 2024 1,201 19,366 20,567 

    

Changes from cash flows    

Payment of principal portion of lease payments (301) - (301) 

Payment of interest portion of lease payments (57) - (57) 

Repayment of bank borrowings - (19,930) (19,930) 

Interest paid - (563) (563) 

Total changes from financing cash flows (358) (20,493) (20,851) 

Other changes    

New lease liabilities 94 - 94 

Interest expenses of lease liabilities 57 - 57 

Interest expenses - 1,127 1,127 

Total other changes 151 1,127 1,278 

At 31 December 2024 994 - 994 
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) 
 

 
Lease 

liabilities 
Bank  

borrowings  Total  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
As at 1 January 2023 210 35,730 35,940 

    
Changes from cash flows    

Payment of principal portion of lease payments (197) - (197) 
Payment of interest portion of lease payments (40) - (40) 

Proceeds from bank borrowings - 4,270 4,270 

Repayment of bank borrowings - (20,070) (20,070) 

Interest paid - (1,329) (1,329) 

Total changes from financing cash flows (237) (17,129) (17,366) 

Other changes    
Reassessment of lease (Note 17) (154) - (154) 
Gain on loan modification (Note 30) - (668) (668) 

New lease liabilities 1,342 - 1,342 

Interest expenses of lease liabilities 40 - 40 

Interest expenses - 1,433 1,433 

Total other changes 1,228 765 1,993 

At 31 December 2023 1,201 19,366 20,567 

 
(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 

On 30 July 2021, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement with independent third parties (the 
Vendor”) in relation to the acquisition of 51% of the equity interests in Ji Yang Hong (the “JYH Acquisition”) at 

a cash consideration of RMB12,373,000 and contingent consideration up to RMB11,650,000 in aggregate. The 
contingent consideration will be paid by instalments. The Group has right to adjust the consideration if 

conditions precedent, mainly net profit target for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, are not 
fulfilled. As at 31 December 2021, there was no payment of contingent consideration. As set out in the share 

purchase agreement, the performance target of net profit is at least RMB3,728,800, RMB3,952,500 and 
RMB4,189,600 for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.  

 
Conditions precedent, mainly net profit target for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, were fulfilled, 
therefore the last instalment of contingent consideration of RMB6,186,000 was paid to the Vendor during the 
year. (Note 23(b)). 

 
36. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT SCHEME 

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by 
the local governments in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of the qualifying 
payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect 
to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions. There were no forfeited contributions under 
the retirement benefit schemes.
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37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
Particulars of material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are as follows: 
 

Name of subsidiary 
Ownership interests held by non-

controlling interests 

 2024 2023 
Fineland E-Life 31.07% 31.07% 

Ji Yang Hong 49% 49% 

Yikang 40% 40% 

 

In 2024, Guangzhou Fangrun Living Service Co., Ltd. further acquired Nil (2023: 0.66%) of the equity interests in 
Fineland E-life, and the equity interests held by NCI remained at 31.07%. 

 
The NCI of all other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be immaterial. 

 
Summarized financial information in relation to the material NCI, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below: 

 
(a) Fineland E-Life 

 
 2024 2023  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
For the year ended 31 December   
   

Revenue 292,891 318,584 

Loss for the year (17,793) (5,530) 

Total comprehensive expense (17,793) (5,530) 

Loss allocated to NCI (5,528) (726) 

Dividends paid to NCI 2,088 4,311 

 
 2024 2023  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
For the year ended 31 December   

   

Cash flows from operating activities 25,960 13,258 

Cash flows used in investing activities (2,474) (8,016) 

Cash flows used in financing activities (22,630) (20,041) 

Net cash inflows/(outflows) 856 (14,799) 

For the year ended 31 December   

   

Current assets 239,987 281,848 

Non-current assets 62,770 45,903 

Current liabilities (197,583) (201,210) 

Non-current liabilities (4,563) (5,753) 

Net assets 100,611 120,788 

Accumulated NCI 34,143 41,416 
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37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 
(b) Ji Yang Hong 

 

 2024 2023  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
For the year ended 31 December   

   
Revenue 28,924 29,356 

Profit for the year 1,145 3,519 

Total comprehensive income 1,145 3,519 

Profit allocated to NCI 561 1,724 

Dividends paid to NCI 1,715 - 

For the year ended 31 December   

   

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (48) 4,540 

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (457) 73 

Cash flows used in financing activities (3,500) - 

Net cash (outflows)/inflows  (4,005) 4,613 

For the year ended 31 December   

   

Current assets 29,137 33,559 

Non-current assets 2,045 2,314 

Current liabilities (17,314) (19,651) 

Non-current liabilities - - 

Net assets 13,868 16,222 

Accumulated NCI 6,795 7,949 
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37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 
(c) Yikang 
 

 2024 2023  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
For the year ended 31 December   

   
Revenue 34,085 41,355 

Profit for the year 3,159 2,824 

Total comprehensive income 3,159 2,824 

Profit allocated to NCI 1,264 1,130 

Dividends paid to NCI 2,000 - 

For the year ended 31 December   

   

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (697) 4,601 

Cash flows used in investing activities (4) (522) 

Cash flows used in financing activities (5,154) (80) 

Net cash (outflows)/inflows (5,855) 3,999 

For the year ended 31 December   

   

Current assets 29,634 33,520 

Non-current assets 6,405 9,018 

Current liabilities (23,379) (27,659) 

Non-current liabilities (582) (960) 

Net assets 12,078 13,919 

Accumulated NCI 4,832 5,568 

 

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries. 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired additional 0.66% of the equity interests in Fineland 

E-Life at a cash consideration of RMB750,000 and acquired additional 49% of the equity interests in Guangzhou 
Cheng Hui Property Consultancy Limited (“Cheng Hui”) at a cash consideration of RMB295,000. Following the 

acquisitions, the Group had approximately 68.93% and 100% ownership interests in Fineland E-Life and Cheng Hui 
respectively. The transactions have been accounted for as an equity transaction with the non-controlling interests 

as follows: 
 

 Fineland  
E-Life 

Cheng Hui 2023 
Total 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Consideration paid for additional ownership interests 750 295 1,045 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (833) (815) (1,648) 

Increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company 
(included in capital reserve) (83) (520) (603) 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 

incorporation/ 

establishment and 

type of legal entity 

Place of 

operation 

Authorised/ 

registered capital 

Issued and fully 

paid capital / 

paid in capital  

Effective interest 

held by the 

Company  
2024 2023 Principal activities 

Directly held: 
       

Fineland Property Services Holdings 

Limited 

The BVI 

16 February 2017 

Limited liability company 

the PRC 50,000 shares of  

US$50,000 

200 shares of  

US$200 

100% 100% Investment holding 

Indirectly held: 
       

Fineland Real Estate Services Limited

方圓房地產服務有限公司  

Hong Kong 

16 June 2016 

Limited liability company 

the PRC 10 shares of  

HK$10 

10 shares of  

HK$10 

100% 100% Investment holding 

Guangzhou Fineland Living Services 

Limited* 

廣州方圓生活服務有限公司  

The PRC 

17 March 1997 

Limited liability company 

the PRC HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000 100% 100% Provision of real estate 

consultation, agency, 

market analysis and 

marketing services 

Guangzhou Fang Yuan Bao Network 

and Technology Limited* 

廣州房緣寶網路科技有限公司  

The PRC 

17 June 2015 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Provision of online property 

referral and agency 

services 

Guangzhou Hai Yuan Bao Investment 

Consultancy Limited* 

廣州海緣寶投資諮詢有限公司 

The PRC 

13 May 2016 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB300,000 RMB300,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fang Qin Real Estate 

Agency Limited* 

廣州方勤房地產代理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

30 May 2018 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fang Ying Real Estate 

Agency Limited* 

廣州方贏房地產代理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

31 May 2018 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,010,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Cheng Hui Property 

Consultancy Limited* 

廣州誠匯地產顧問有限公司 

 

The PRC 

25 October 2018 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB600,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fanghong Property 

Agency Limited* 

廣州方弘房地產代理有限公司 

The PRC 

30 April 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fangrun Living Service 

Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方潤生活服務有限公司 

 

The PRC 

6 May 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,010,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 
incorporation/ 
establishment and 
type of legal entity 

Place of 
operation 

Authorised/ 
registered capital 

Issued and fully 
paid capital / 
paid in capital  

Effective interest 
held by the 
Company  

2024 2023 Principal activities 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Asset Management 

Real Estate Agency Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓資管房地產代理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

20 April 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Fangfu Property 

Agency Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓房服房地產代理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

22 April 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property agency 

services 

Guangzhou Fineland E-Life Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

廣州方圓現代生活服務股份有限公司 

  

The PRC 

8 November 1996 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB45,000,000 RMB45,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Changsha Ji Yang Hong Property 

Management Co., Ltd.* 

長沙市霽陽紅物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

24 April 2014 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000 51% 51% Provision of property 

management services 

Liuyang Jichuang Community Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

瀏陽市霽創社區服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

21 June 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 51% 51% Provision of community 

value-added services 

Huizhou Zhongkai High-tech Zone Jinbao 

Security Services Co., Ltd.* 

惠州仲愷高新區金豹保安服務有限 

公司 

  

The PRC 

11 August 2016 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of security 

services 

Guangzhou Weiyao Business Service Co., 

Ltd.*  

廣州微耀商務服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

16 December 2008 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,010,000 RMB500,000 69% 69% Provision of community 

value-added services 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Huayue Property 

Service Management Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓華悅物業服務管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

4 March 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Pengyue Property 

Services Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓鵬悅物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

18 January 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Youhao Property Management 

Co., Ltd.* 

廣州有好物業管理有限公司  

The PRC 

24 June 2009 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB6,000,000 RMB3,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 
incorporation/ 
establishment and  
type of legal entity 

Place of 
operation 

Authorised/ 
registered capital 

Issued and fully 
paid capital/ 
paid in capital  

Effective interest held 
by the Company  

2024 2023 Principal activities 

Guangzhou Quanyi Property  

Management Co., Ltd.* 

廣州全意物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

9 June 2009 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Commercial Property 

Management Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓商業物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

23 December 2011 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Yishiguang Fangyuan Property 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

廣州壹時光方圓物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

12 November 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB20,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Zhuhai Fangyuan Property Management 

Co., Ltd.* 

珠海市方圓物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

1 April 2008 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Luoding Fangxian Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

羅定市方現物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

14 October 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB300,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Yunan Fangxian Property Management   

Co., Ltd.* 

郁南縣方現物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

31 October 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB180,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Huaiji Fangyuan Property Service Co., Ltd.* 

懷集縣方圓物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

10 April 2018 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB2,000,000 RMB810,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Zhuhai Fangyuan Modern Technology 

Investment Co., Ltd.* 

珠海方圓現代科技投資有限公司 

  

The PRC 

21 October 2016 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Wenchang Fangxian Property Service     

Co., Ltd.* 

文昌市方現物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

5 November 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB100,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Jiangmen Fangyuan Hengjun Property 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

江門方圓恒駿物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

13 June 2018 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB2,000,000 RMB1,000,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Suzhou Weiren Business Services Co., Ltd.*

蘇州微仁商務服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

30 April 2021 

Limited liability company 

  

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB10,000 69% 69% Provision of community value-

added services 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 
incorporation/ 
establishment and 
type of legal entity 

Place of 
operation 

Authorised/ 
registered capital 

Issued and fully 
paid capital / 
paid in capital  

Effective interest held 
by the Company  

2024 2023 Principal activities 

Guangzhou Weixiang Business Service      

Co., Ltd.* 

廣州微享商務服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

29 July 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 69% 69% Provision of community value-

added services 

Guangzhou Weiyu Business Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

廣州微譽商務服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

25 July 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB70,000 69% 69% Provision of community 

value-added services 

Guangzhou Nansha Fangyuan Property  

Service Co., Ltd.* 

廣州南沙方圓物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

12 May 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Nansha Fineland Leju Property 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

廣州南沙方圓樂居物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

26 October 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB400,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Meizhou Fangxian Property Service Co., Ltd.* 

梅州市方現物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

16 June 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB240,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Zhongshan Fangyuan Property 

Management Co., Ltd.* 

鐘山縣方圓物業管理有限公司 

  

The PRC 

30 April 2019 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB270,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Heshang Fangxian Property Services Co., 

Ltd.* 

鶴山市方圓物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

12 January 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB190,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Huizhou Fangxian Jiahe Property Services 

Co., Ltd.* 

惠州方現嘉合物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

22 June 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Fangyuan Dazhengchang 

Property Services Co., Ltd.* 

廣州方圓大征場物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

20 May 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Nansha Fangxian Property 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

廣州南沙方現物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

6 August 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 69% 69% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Weizheni Business Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

廣州微臻商務服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

6 May 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 69% 69% Provision of community value-

added services 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 
incorporation/  
establishment and 
type of legal entity 

Place of 
operation 

Authorised/ 
registered capital 

Issued and fully 
paid capital / 
paid in capital  

Effective interest held 
by the Company  

2024 2023 
Principal activities 

Juncheng Fangyuan Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

廣東筠城方圓物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

31 March 2020 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 51% 51% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangdong Yikang Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

廣東益康物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

2 November 2010 

Limited liability company  

the PRC RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Dongguan Yi Yuan Kang Property Service 

Co., Ltd.* 

東莞市益元康物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

29 December 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Dongguan Lizhen Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

東莞市利貞物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

25 July 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Meizhou Yi Run Kang Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

梅州市益潤康物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

4 August 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Guiping Yuegui Huacheng Property Service 

Co., Ltd.* 

桂平市粵桂花城物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

13 June 2006 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMB500,000 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Dongguan Heng Yuan Kang Property 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

東莞市恒元泰物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

25 July 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Meizhou Yi Yuan Kang Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

梅州市益元康物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

20 August 2021 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Hengyuan Property Service 

Co., Ltd.* 

廣州市恒源昌物業服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

8 August 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Changsha Ji Yang Hong Property 

Management Co., Ltd.* 

長沙市霽陽紅生活服務有限公司 

  

The PRC 

8 December 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB1,000,000 RMBNil 51% 51% Provision of property 

management services 
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Place and date of 
incorporation/  
establishment and 
type of legal entity 

Place of 
operation 

Authorised/ 
registered capital 

Issued and fully 
paid capital / 
paid in capital  

Effective interest held 
by the Company  

2024 2023 
Principal activities 

Liuyang Ji Yang Hong Chuang Living 

Service Co., Ltd.* 

瀏陽市霽陽紅創生活服務有限公司 

 

The PRC 

13 February 2023 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 51% 51% Provision of property 

management services 

Liuyang Ji Yang Hong Fang Chuang 

Property Service Co., Ltd.* 

瀏陽市霽陽紅方創物業服務有限公司 

 

 

The PRC 

28 August 2023 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 51% 51% Provision of property 

management services 

Meizhou Yi He Kang Property Service Co., 

Ltd.* 

梅州市益合康物業服務有限公司 

 

 

The PRC 

15 August 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 60% 60% Provision of property 

management services 

Guangzhou Litong Business Service Co., 

Ltd. * 

廣州立通商務服務有限公司 

 

The PRC 

27 May 2022 

Limited liability company 

the PRC RMB500,000 RMBNil 69% 69% Provision of community value-

added services 

* The English translated names are for identification purpose only. 

 

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period. 
 

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries 
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. All these 
subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarized as follows: 
 
Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries 
  2024 2023 
Investment holding The PRC 1 1 

Inactive The PRC 12 12 
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39. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 2024 2023  

 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Non-current asset   
Interests in subsidiaries 11,883 9,283 

Current asset   
Bank balances and cash 62 47 

Current liabilities   
Accruals and other payables 1,368 2,349 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 27,551 19,361 

Total current liabilities 28,919 21,710 

Net current liabilities (28,857) (21,663) 

Total assets less current liabilities (16,974) (12,380) 

Net liabilities (16,974) (12,380) 

Capital and reserves   
Share capital 3,403 3,403 

Reserves (Note) (20,377) (15,783) 

Total deficits (16,974) (12,380) 

   
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025. 
 
 

 
   

Fong Ming 
Executive Director 

 

 Sun Ligong  
Executive Director 

 

Note:  

Reserves of the Company 

 

 
Share 

premium 
Capital 
reserve 

Exchange 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses Total 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

As at 1 January 2023 51,677 922 755 (62,588) (9,234) 

Loss for the year - - - (6,452) (6,452) 

Exchange differences on translation  

to presentation currency - - (97) - (97) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (97) (6,452) (6,549) 

As at 31 December 2023 and 

1 January 2024 

51,677 922 658 (69,040) (15,783) 

Loss for the year - - - (4,104) (4,104) 
Exchange differences on translation  

to presentation currency - - (490) - (490) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (490) (4,104) (4,594) 

As at 31 December 2024 51,677 922 168 (73,144) (20,377) 
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40. COMMITMENTS AND CONTNGENT LIABILITIES 
(a) Capital commitment 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant capital commitment (2023: RMBNil). 
 
(b) Contingent liability 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant contingent liability (2023: RMBNil).  
 
41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 23 October 2017, the adoption of the 

share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”) was approved to enable the Company to grant share options 
to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit 

and retain high-calibre employees. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any director or employee (whether 
full time or part time), consultant or adviser of the Group who in the sole discretion of the directors has contributed 

to and/or will contribute to the Group. 
 

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the Scheme 
on 23 October 2017. The exercise price for any share under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the directors 

and notified to each grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business day; 
(ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and (iii) the nominal 
value of a share on the date of grant. 
 
The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options 
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company, must not, 
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time. No share options may be granted 
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded. 
 
There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which a share option must be held or the performance 
targets which must be achieved before a share option can be exercised under the terms of the Scheme. However, 
at the time of granting any share option, the directors may, on a case-by-case basis, make such grant subject to 
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of 
the share options to be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the directors may determine in its 
absolute discretion. 
 

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or 
lapsed under the Scheme. 
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42. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
On 26 February 2025, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with Hengyuang Taiye (Huizhou) Real 
estate Co., Ltd.* (恒源泰业(惠州)置业有限公司) (“Hengyuan Taiye”), a limited company established under the laws 

of PRC, ultimately owned by independent third parties, to dispose of 51% of the equity interest in Huizhou Fangxian 
Jiahe Property Service Co., Ltd.* (惠州方現嘉合物業服務有限公司) (“Fangxian Jiahe”) at a cash consideration of 
RMB255,000. On 28 February 2025, the Group entered into a confirmation letter with Hengyuan Taiye to state that 
51% of the equity interest were transferred from the Group to Shengyu Enterprise Development (Guangzhou) Co., 
Ltd.* (盛譽企業發展(廣州)有限公司) (“Shengyu”), a limited company established under the laws of PRC, ultimately 
owned by independent third parties, at a cash consideration of RMB255,000. The cash consideration was settled by 
Shengyu to the Group on 13 March 2025. The disposal is expected to be completed by 30 June 2025. Upon 
completion, the Company will no longer hold any interest in Fangxian Jiahe and Fangxian Jiahe will cease to be a 
subsidiary of the Company. 

On 25 October 2021, the Group, as purchaser (the “Purchaser”), entered into a share purchase agreement (the 

“Share Purchase Agreement”) with Shanghai Lvbaoyuan Business Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* 
(上海綠保源企業管理合夥企業(有限合夥)) as vendor (the “Vendor”) in relation to the acquisition of 60% of the 

equity interests in Guangdong Yikang Property Service Co., Ltd.* (廣東益康物業服務有限公司) (“Yikang”) at a cash 
consideration payable by instalments (the “Yikang Acquisition”), which is subject to adjustments based on the 

achievement of net profit targets (after deducting non-recurring profit and loss combined tax) of Yikang for each of 
the three years ended 31 December 2023 could be met respectively. On 26 March 2025, the Purchaser and the 
Vendor have mutually agreed on the settlement arrangement for the outstanding balance in relation to the last 
payment installment of the consideration for the Yikang Acquisition. The Board is of the view that such settlement 
arrangement is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole and that the Vendor has 
fulfilled all of its profit guarantee obligations under the Share Purchase Agreement. Please refer to the 
announcement of the Company in relation to the profit guarantee arrangement for Yikang Acquisition dated 26 
March 2025 for further information. 
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 For the year ended 31 December 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Results      

Revenue 369,101 426,784 511,945 571,408 276,725 

(Loss)/profit before income tax (89,332) (67,486) 30,672 31,293 21,992 
Income tax 10,007 10,374 1,040 (2,028) (10,317) 

(Loss)/profit for the year (79,325) (57,112) 31,712 29,265 11,675 

      
 For the year ended 31 December 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 
 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assets and liabilities      
Total assets 366,742 478,291 573,838 454,171 219,913 

Total liabilities (281,018) (305,365) (336,331) (249,121) (77,857) 

Net assets 85,724  172,926 237,507 205,050 142,056 

 

Note: 

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements. 

 


